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Bemis is a leading manufacturer of flexible packaging and pressure sensitive materials,
using material science and innovation to serve the global marketplace.

The primary market for the Company’s products is the food industry, which accounts for over sixty-five

percent of sales. Other markets include medical, pharmaceutical, chemical, agribusiness, printing and

graphic arts, and a variety of other industrial end uses. Bemis holds a strong position in many of its 

markets and actively seeks new market segments where its technical skills and capabilities provide a 

competitive advantage.

The Company has a strong technical base in polymer chemistry, film extrusion, coating and laminating,

printing and converting, and pressure sensitive adhesive technologies. These capabilities are being 

integrated to provide greater innovation and accelerated growth in the Company’s core businesses.

Bemis’ management philosophy is to emphasize long-term development and profitability and to position

the Company in product and market segments where above average revenue growth and profit potential

can be realized. Emphasis is placed on market selection, product innovation, and continued efficient 

and environmentally sound manufacturing processes. The Company’s more technically oriented, higher

margin, flexible packaging business is being actively expanded through a strong capital investment 

program and selected strategic acquisitions.
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highlights
FINANCIAL

Years Ended December 31,
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 % Change

Sales and Earnings: 
Net sales $ 2,369,038 $ 2,293,104 3%

Income before income taxes 267,015 227,425 17

Provision for income taxes 101,500 87,100 17

Net income 165,515 140,325 18

Per Share:
Basic earnings per share $ 3.13 $ 2.66 18%

Diluted earnings per share 3.08 2.64 17

Dividends paid 1.04 1.00 4

Book value 18.11 16.76 8

Ratios:
Net income to net sales 7.0% 6.1%

Return on average stockholders’ equity 17.9% 16.7%

Return on average total capital 10.3% 10.0%

Total debt to total capital 40.5% 37.3%

Additional Information:
Capital expenditures $ 91,004 $ 117,481 (23%)

Stock price/earnings ratio range 13-19x 11-20x

Weighted-average common shares outstanding
for computation of diluted earnings per share 53,746,487 53,121,798 1 

Common shares outstanding at year-end 52,943,738 52,869,929

Number of employees 11,837 11,012 7 
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I am pleased to report another year of solid earnings growth for

Bemis Company. We achieved sales growth and improved

profitability in both segments of the business in spite of the

ongoing weak economic environment.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE PAST YEAR INCLUDE:

• Record net sales of $2.4 billion, an increase of 

3% over 2001;

• 17% earnings per share growth to $3.08 (9%

growth after giving consideration to changes in

accounting for goodwill);

• 4% sales growth and 6% operating profit

growth in our Flexible Packaging business

segment, representing 79% of company 

net sales;

• 2% increase in net sales in our pressure sensi-

tive materials business along with double-digit

improvement in operating profit;

• Expanded high barrier technology with the

purchase of the Clysar® thin gauge shrink film

business;

• Increased European flexible packaging presence

with the acquisition of high barrier packaging

operations located in Finland and France.

FLEXIBLE PACKAGING 

Our high barrier products employ the majority of our 

proprietary technologies. In 2002, performance improved as

increased high barrier capacity derived from recent acquisitions

provided new opportunities to implement an expanded array of

innovative package structures. In 2003, we are expanding our

medical film production capabilities with a focused factory

that will be dedicated to the specific needs of that market.

We are investing in high barrier shrink bag capacity to

meet demand for our new line of bone guard pouches.

These investments are supported by strong customer

demand and process engineering expertise that will

help ensure efficient start-up in each case.

We have greatly expanded our global reach with

the purchase a new high clarity, thin gauge shrink

film product line in July. Complementary to our

existing shrink technologies, this product line

expands our film capabilities into global industrial

shrink film markets. Thin gauge shrink technolo-

gy, combined with our in-house oriented film

expertise, will also create opportunities for our

research engineers to enhance our existing high

barrier products.

In October, we significantly increased our presence

in the European flexible packaging market with 

the acquisition of a European-based high barrier

packaging operation. With a total of seven European

flexible packaging plants, Bemis Europe is able to deliver

a broader array of high barrier technologies and is 

positioned to expand these technologies in the future.

shareholders
CEO ’ s MESSAGE  TO
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We continue to look for opportunities to blur the imaginary line that differentiates our

polyethylene products from our more complex high barrier product line. During 2002,

our polyethylene product customers began to incorporate more complex features into

their packaging designs. While this trend is consistent with our long-term business

objectives, the short-term demands for capacity had a negative effect on the operating

efficiencies of this business.

Our paper packaging product line continues to demonstrate good cost control and 

innovation. Using specialty paper materials and improved filling features,

we are creating opportunities to improve the value we deliver to

customers and differentiate our products in the marketplace.

PRESSURE SENSITIVE MATERIALS

Our pressure sensitive materials business segment

has improved considerably from 2001. Our

newest plant in Columbus, Indiana has overcome

its start-up production issues and is contributing

profit to the business. We have implemented Six

Sigma programs throughout this business to reduce

and control costs while improving both quality and service.

While these improvements are impressive, we expect growth in this business to continue

to be sluggish until the economy improves and absorbs the excess production capacity in

our operations and in the industry as a whole.

In August, we announced an agreement to sell the North American and European operations

of our pressure sensitive materials business segment to UPM-Kymmene for $420 million

in cash. This transaction is an opportunity for our pressure sensitive materials business to

be part of a broad line of converting material products and benefit from the buyer’s

expertise in related technologies. The European regulatory authorities approved the

transaction in October, 2002. U.S. regulatory authorities have extended their review of

information and are expected to issue a decision on the transaction during the first half

of 2003.

A LONG-TERM STRATEGY THAT WORKS

TECHNOLOGY & INNOVATION

Our business strategy combines our strength in packaging technology with our state-of-the-

art manufacturing facilities to create a relevant, innovative solution for our customers. Our

research engineers combine their expertise in material science with a host of proprietary

process technologies to create new products and features for flexible packaging. But at

Bemis, we understand that technology and innovation cannot grow the business unless it can

be manufactured profitably and on a commercial scale.

MANUFACTURING EXCELLENCE

We have invested in world-class manufacturing assets,

striving for continuous improvement in all areas 

of production. With these tools, we can cost

effectively manufacture new technologies into

our products and bring them to market. We

have organized each of our facilities to focus on

a particular technology or process to encourage

specialization and develop expertise from which to build.

As a specific technology grows to incorporate new materials or

processes, our employees are prepared to meet that challenge.

CUSTOMER FOCUS

Our most innovative ideas provide no benefit to the company unless they can be incor-

porated into packaging applications and deliver increased market share to our customers.

We work intimately with our customers to identify solutions to their package design and

equipment issues, focusing our research efforts on opportunities to extend shelf life,

improve freshness, improve brand recognition, incorporate easy open and recloseable 

features, reduce waste in customer plants, and increase their package filling speeds.

C E O ’ S M E S S AG E T O S H A R E H O L D E R S continued…

Technology & I nnovation

Customer
Focus

Value
Manufacturing
Excellence

Value
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The value that we deliver to our customers and to our shareholders is magnified by the

skill with which we can combine these three components, leveraging our strength and

expertise in each area. It is the point at which these three elements come together that

gives us a substantial competitive advantage in the marketplace.

Over the years, our Board of Directors has been mindful of the need for appropriate

checks and balances to protect the interests of our shareholders. Recently, according 

to data compiled by Institutional Shareholder Services, an independent proxy and 

governance advisory firm, Bemis received a score of 95 out of 100 for the quality of our

corporate governance. We are proud of the fact that several of the requirements of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act now being adopted by companies have been in place at Bemis for

many years. Management and the Board of Directors will continue its efforts to enhance

our corporate governance policies and procedures to maintain our leadership position in

this important area of responsibility.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

We continually drive our business to achieve our long-term goals of consistent, double-

digit growth in earnings per share and cash flow, improving return on capital ratios, and

a strong capital structure to maximize our financial flexibility. In 2003, we will continue

to introduce unique products that provide affordable solutions and are responsive to the

strategic goals of our customers. Our new medical packaging film plant will begin 

production with an emphasis on new market-focused products. We will continue to

emphasize the benefits of innovation in packaging and support these trends with investment

in state-of-the-art capacity. Bemis Europe will coordinate its business approach to that

market, integrating our new European operations with our existing focused facilities and

expanding our opportunities in each market.

Looking forward, we will carefully evaluate acquisition opportunities to identify those

that may provide us with key technologies, access to new markets, or a platform on which

to build our expertise. While a decision from the U.S. regulatory agency on the pressure

sensitive materials transaction is pending, at this juncture we anticipate approval and are

planning for the future as a focused flexible packaging company.

We enter 2003 a leading global flexible packaging company with a clear business strategy,

a strong balance sheet, high quality plant assets, and a dedication to material science,

process technology and product innovation.

Your investment in Bemis is evidence of your confidence in our future business prospects,

the stewardship of our valuable assets, and the talent and dedication of nearly 12,000 Bemis

employees. We appreciate the support of our customers, suppliers and shareholders, and 

will continue to execute on our commitments with the highest degree of quality, care 

and integrity.

C E O ’ S M E S S AG E T O S H A R E H O L D E R S continued…

Jeffrey H. Curler,
President and Chief Executive Officer
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segments
BEMIS  BUS INESS

Bemis is the leading manufacturer of flexible packaging in the Americas. We provide multinational and North American

food and consumer products companies with packaging solutions that protect contents during shipment, extend shelf life, and

offer attractive, consumer friendly designs. Over 60% of Flexible Packaging sales are printed film materials. The balance are

sold as plain film for retail and institutional food as well as a variety of other markets.

FLEXIBLE PACKAGING
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HIGH BARRIER PRODUCTS

High barrier products include 
controlled and modified atmosphere
packaging for food, medical, personal
care and non-food applications 
consisting of complex barrier, multi-
layer polymer film structures, laminates
and polyolefin shrink film. Value is
added through flexographic and
rotogravure printing as well as 
pouch making.

Primary markets are processed and
fresh meat, liquids, snacks, cheese,
coffee, condiments, candy, pet food,
personal care, medical packaging and
retail display.

PAPER PRODUCTS

Paper products include multi-wall and
single ply paper bags, baler bags, printed
paper roll stock, and bag closing materials.

Primary markets are pet products, seed,
chemicals, dairy products, fertilizers,
feed, minerals, flour, rice and sugar.

POLYETHYLENE PRODUCTS

Polyethylene products include monolayer
and coextruded polymer films that have
been converted to bags, roll stock or
shrink overwrap. Value is added through
flexographic printing.

Primary markets are bakery products,
seed, retail, lawn and garden, ice, fresh
produce, frozen vegetables, shrink wrap,
tissue and sanitary products.

53
%



Bemis is a major worldwide manufacturer of pressure sensitive adhesive coated materials for a variety of markets. Under 

the brand name MACtac, Bemis delivers advanced product performance to the pressure sensitive industry. Examples include

labeling for cold temperature food packaging, harsh environmental conditions, wet manufacturing processes, miniature 

electronic components, tamper evident packaging and technologically advanced fastener applications.

PRESSURE SENSITIVE MATERIALS

PRINTING PRODUCTS

Printing products include unprinted
rolls of pressure sensitive adhesive
coated papers and films. Our products
are sold to converters who print labels
for bar coding, product decoration,
identification, safety marking and
product instructions.ed through flex-
ographic printing.

Primary markets are food packaging,
personal care product packaging,
inventory control labeling and laser/
ink jet printed labels.

DECORATIVE AND SHEET PRODUCTS

Decorative and sheet products include
unprinted rolls or sheets of pressure 
sensitive adhesive coated papers and
films. Offset printers, sign makers and
photo labs use our products with short-
run and/or digital printing technology 
to create labels, signs, or vehicle graphics.

Primary markets are printed sheets,
shipping labels, indoor and outdoor 
signage, photograph and digital print
overlaminates and vehicle graphics.

TECHNICAL PRODUCTS

Technical products include pressure 
sensitive adhesive coated tapes used for
mounting, bonding and fastening. Tapes
sold to medical markets feature medical-
grade adhesives suitable for direct skin
contact.

Primary markets are batteries, electronics,
automotive, construction, medical and
pharmaceuticals.
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This is not just another package…This is a Bemis package.

That means this package was created in state-of-the-art facilities, with experienced technical personnel managing each stage of 

production. In our high barrier product line, it means that a customized combination of polymer resins were heated to a molten state

and combined to form the layers of a plastic film. Our high barrier product line uses differing grades of polymer resin, such as 

polyethylene, polystyrene, polypropylene, nylon, ionomer, EVOH and polyester to provide a variety of properties to the film 

structure. Using various types of resin in certain sequences within the layers of film, Bemis creates films that are stronger, clearer,

more abuse resistant, peelable, sterilizable, glossy, easy to print and customized to maximize run speed on customers’ packaging 

equipment. Many of the high barrier product line films also provide several forms of barrier to protect the product’s freshness and

flavor, including barriers to oxygen, moisture and sunlight.

This tailored selection of raw materials is only one element of the process that makes a Bemis package better. We also apply a

combination of manufacturing process technologies to deliver unique package characteristics. For instance, cold seal adhesive

is applied in a pattern to protect heat sensitive confectionery products from the damage caused by heat sealing. Our 

proprietary ICE® film technology creates films with superior strength, heat resistance and better lay flat characteristics. This is

important for packaging certain products that may have sharp edges, that are heated when packaged, or that hang in a

store display case. Our high barrier shrink technology offers customized degrees of shrink force depending on the

product application. Irradiation technology is used to enhance polymer properties such as tensile strength and

heat resistance.

technology
SCIENCE  AND

Combining rigidity, high quality graphics, barrier
properties and cost savings while maintaining the
billboard effect of the original box package, this
structure offers improved presentation options that
revitalize this historic product line. 

Our new ArmorX™ barrier shrink bag offers customers
protection for high abuse bone-in cuts of meat, while
providing a superior retail presentation in the case
ready shelf.8 Bemis Annual Report 2002



To these customized raw material and process combinations, Bemis adds an array of consumer convenience features 

that can be incorporated into the final package. Our EZ Peel® feature allows packages that are tightly sealed for

freshness to be opened easily without using scissors. Our Fancy Cut Tear Initiation System and Integratear™

features eliminate the need for a tear notch to open the package. These features simplify package form,

fill and seal procedures at the customer packaging plants and reduce waste. IntegraScore™ film provides

access to the slider zipper opening on a package that requires a hermetic seal to maintain freshness.

Our anti-fog feature prevents water droplets from clouding the window of a package.

The 16 oz. package of luncheon
meat utilizes our patented EZ Peel®
feature for a consistent, easy to
open package that seals tight to
keep the luncheon meat fresh.

Originally introduced for yogurt, our stick packs are now used
for applesauce, gelatin and even pudding. This award-winning
pudding package was created especially for aseptic, shelf stable
applications (no refrigeration required) and is optimized for
high speed packaging on our customer’s packaging lines.
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This new rigid thermoformed package of cream cheese
incorporates a formable polyester to allow the package to
be trap printed. Trap printing provides an attractive gloss
that delivers an upscale product image.

This package uses our unique multi-layer coextruded
ICE® film which delivers outstanding residual shrink
and superior oxygen and moisture barriers to extend
shelf life. It also incorporates a rotogravure printed
nonforming film for outstanding graphic appeal.

This coffee looks great and stays fresh using our rotogravure
printed foil laminate which incorporates a seven-layer, high
puncture resistant sealant coextrusion containing layers of
nylon for strength.

These flour tortillas stay fresh in
our bakery bag that incorporates a
recloseable profile for convenience.
This polyethylene bag is produced
in our Hazleton, PA plant which
ships more bakery bags than any
other plant in the U.S.



We reinvent our products every day.

We select unique combinations of raw materials, process technologies and convenience features to create unique solutions to fit each 

customer’s need. Sometimes the result is a brand new product line, like our ArmorX™ shrink film packaging for bone-in fresh meat

or our stickpack package used for liquids such as yogurt. Other times the result is an improved package that gives us a competitive

advantage in the market. For example, incorporating our anti-fog feature into processed meat packaging offers our customers’

products a visible advantage on grocery store shelves. Our easy open and recloseable features have improved consumer

convenience for products from bacon packaging to chunk cheese to top soil. At Bemis, we are continuously looking

for new ways to improve our existing technologies and deliver innovative new products to our customers.

The amount of time it takes to commercialize a new technology is crucial to its ultimate value to the

customer. Our research and development efforts are structured to minimize the time required to

bring a new technology to market. We do not operate any “pilot plants” which would use

machinery dedicated to only research and development. Our technologies are tested

directly on production equipment in our manufacturing plants. This significantly

reduces the cost of our research and development programs, helps solidify

the relationship between operations and R & D, and ensures that

these innovations can be more predictably scaled up to 

commercial volumes.

These full-sized, brightly colored
Kleenex pouches offer consumers a
fun alternative to a rigid container. 

New Hershey Bites “To Go” packages combine Bemis’
state-of-the-art rotogravure printing technology with
metalized film to provide maximum visual impact
along with barrier properties to maintain product
quality and freshness.

Our chub packaging creates a round, tubular form that is
ideal for slicing round patties of meat, like this sausage
package. Brand graphics are printed on the reverse side of
the outside layer of film to protect them during distribution
and handling.

innovation
PRODUCT
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This all plastic, laminated package of frozen dinner 
products has upgraded to 8-color, photo quality graphics
with a gusseted bottom panel. The gusseted panel gives
the package brand identity in the grocer’s freezer even
when lying on its side.

Our printed multi-pack shrink film
offers high clarity and gloss that
allows the consumer to see their
favorite product.



Bemis has become a global name.

During 2002, Bemis significantly expanded the global reach of its product lines and technologies with two key acquisitions. Our

newly acquired Clysar® brand is a premium, high clarity, polyolefin shrink film used primarily in total over-wrap applications for the

display, protective packaging and food markets. Manufactured in facilities in the United States and France, this product is marketed

through a distribution system that provides access to the worldwide industrial shrink film market. This acquisition enriches our  portfolio

of oriented film capabilities, opening the door to new product innovations in the future. In addition, access to a global distribution

system provides the mechanism to deliver other Bemis products to new markets around the world.

Bemis also purchased a European packaging business that specializes in high barrier films for use in vacuum and modified atmosphere

packaging for meat, cheese and other fresh foods. The experience and technical expertise that already exists at these two European 

manufacturing facilities makes it a great platform from which to introduce to the European markets our proprietary process tech-

nologies that have been so successful in the North American meat and cheese markets.

With an expanded product offering and global customer base, Bemis flexible packaging products will be introduced to more

markets around the world than ever before, strengthening our reputation as a leading innovator in the packaging industry.
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Our new Clysar® thin gauge shrink film products
securely bundle multiple products, completely
surrounding them with crystal clear, unprinted
film that shows off the product inside. 



Our focused factories deliver quality at a competitive price.

In order to support the complex technologies that make Bemis’ products the best, we invest in state-of-the-art equipment and 

continuously upgrade the production capabilities available to our manufacturing technicians. Our blown film machines are modified

to accommodate specific process technologies that allow many types of polyolefin resin to be run at maximum efficiency. The majority

of our flexible packaging products are printed, and our state-of-the-art printing capacity has kept pace with the rapid technical

advancements in the graphics industry and improved our efficiency in the process.

An important part of our manufacturing strategy centers around the creation of “focused factories” that easily adapt to customized

products. At Bemis, certain factories or lines of equipment are dedicated to particular types of process technology to maximize 

production efficiency and encourage expertise and specialization in the workforce. This approach reduces downtime for resin, film

or ink color changes and maximizes run speeds. We presently maintain focused factories in flexible packaging for medical device

packaging, cold seal processes, bakery bags, shrink film and pet food multiwall paper bags. In our larger plants, lines of equipment

are focused on particular products or processes.

Our vertical integration and focused factory approach allows us to cost-effectively produce unique film structures that meet

the specific needs of each customer’s application. We are also vertically integrated in graphics services. Our graphic design

and color separation experts work directly with customers to create the highest quality printed package. Using

rotogravure and flexographic printing, we continue to expand our technical capabilities in graphic design and

printing to add value to our packaging products.

excellence
MANUFACTURING
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This polyethylene package boldly
advertises the new features of this
premium product.

Our multiwall paper bags are ideal for all sizes of pet food
products. They are produced in our focused factory for paper
pet food packaging and continue to be a staple in the industry.



Where it delivers a market advantage, our facilities meet the strict quality and manufacturing requirements set

by the American Baking Institute, ISO 9000 and ISO 9001. At Bemis, it is our goal to meet the highest

safety standards to ensure a safe working environment for our employees. Six Sigma initiatives have

been implemented in many of our facilities in order to establish best practices that consistently

meet both customer requirements and measurable safety and financial performance goals.
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The vibrant colors and clear graphics of this printed
shrink film multi-pack received a “Silver Award” for
printing achievement in the 2003 Flexible Packaging
Achievement Awards contest. 

As well as having convenient carrying handles and easy open
features, these polyethylene packages utilize leading-edge
print techniques and technologies to create exciting and
engaging graphics which attract consumers to them on the
retail shelf.

Our multi-pack polyethylene shrink film firmly
holds together multiple heavy products while
protecting the branded graphics from distortion.

Our gussetted bakery bag for hot dog buns shows 
off the product with high clarity cast film printed
using Bemis produced photopolymer plates on one
of our state-of-the-art eight-color printing presses.

Our cold seal packaging is
pressure sealed, not heat
sealed, allowing customers
to fill packages with very
high speed machines.
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“We will bring the best of what Bemis has to offer to
each and every customer.”

Our business units operate as autonomous profit centers, many under different

business names (shown at left). They are highly focused on the products that they

make and take responsibility for the markets they serve. This decentralized

approach promotes margin improvement, innovation, focused market targeting,

and the development of successful business leaders.

Our customers include the largest food and consumer products companies in the

world, and they often participate in more than one particular market. The coordi-

nation of our business units to effectively deliver all of the benefits of our extensive

portfolio of products and technologies is critical to our success.

This is the philosophy that we call “One Bemis.”

The One Bemis approach assigns a senior account executive to coordinate all the

resources necessary to meet the needs of a particular customer. By using this

approach, we bring a complete line of packaging products to our customer which

can help improve the efficiency of the customers’ purchasing function, effectively

reducing the number of vendors they need to manage. Our senior account execu-

tives are well versed in the specialized technologies available throughout the Bemis

organization and bring together the resources within Bemis to ensure the highest

quality products are delivered to our customers. As Bemis continues to grow, with

new customers, markets and technologies, this sales and marketing structure will

efficiently make available our best solutions to our growing, global customer base.

BEMIS PAPER PACKAGING GROUP

A Bemis Company

BEMIS EUROPE
Flexible Packaging
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summary
FIVE  YEAR  

Business Segments (dollars in millions) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Flexible Packaging 
Net sales $1,870.1 $1,801.9 $1,658.6 $1,469.6 $1,399.8

Operating profit 289.1 273.2 221.3 187.2 156.3

Average investment 1,566.3 1,331.5 1,285.1 1,007.4 984.4

Operating profit as % of net sales 15.5% 15.2% 13.3% 12.7% 11.2%

Operating profit as % of average investment 18.5% 20.5% 17.2% 18.6% 15.9%

Pressure Sensitive Materials
Net sales $ 498.9 $ 491.2 $ 506.0 $ 493.0 $ 489.6

Operating profit 27.3 12.1 40.1 44.3 51.0

Average investment 298.2 296.4 274.0 236.6 230.4

Operating profit as % of net sales 5.5% 2.5% 7.9% 9.0% 10.4%

Operating profit as % of average investment 9.1% 4.1% 14.6% 18.7% 22.1%

Total Company
Net sales $2,369.0 $2,293.1 $2,164.6 $1,962.6 $1,889.4

Operating profit 316.4 285.3 261.4 231.5 207.3

Average investment 1,864.5 1,627.9 1,559.1 1,244.0 1,214.8

Operating profit as % of net sales 13.4% 12.4% 12.1% 11.8% 11.0%

Operating profit as % of average investment 17.0% 17.5% 16.8% 18.6% 17.1%

Note: Operating profit is defined as profit before general corporate expense, interest expense, income taxes, and minority interest.
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analysis
MANAGEMENT ’ S  D I SCUSS ION  AND

THREE-YEAR REVIEW OF RESULTS Percent
2002 2001 2000 

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of products sold 77.7 79.2 79.3
Gross margin 22.3 20.8 20.7
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 9.7 9.0 8.9
All other expenses 1.3 1.9 2.0
Income before income taxes 11.3 9.9 9.8
Provision for income taxes 4.3 3.8 3.8
Net income 7.0% 6.1% 6.0%
Effective tax rate 38.0% 38.3% 38.3%

Three years ended December 31, 2002
Management’s Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and related Notes beginning on page 31.

OVERVIEW
Bemis Company, Inc. is a leading manufacturer of flexible packaging and pressure sensitive

materials supplying a variety of industries. The food industry is our largest market, representing
about 65 percent of our total company net sales. Our flexible packaging products are widely diver-
sified among food categories and can be found in nearly every aisle of the grocery store. Our
emphasis on supplying packaging to the food industry provides a more stable market environment
for our flexible packaging business segment, which accounts for about 79 percent of our net sales.
The remaining 21 percent of our net sales is from the pressure sensitive materials business segment
which, while diversified in end use products, is less focused on food industry applications and more
exposed to economically sensitive end markets.

Since 1990, we have been active participants in the consolidation of the flexible packaging
industry. Our acquisition strategy is growth oriented, using specific criteria to identify businesses
that offer unique packaging technologies, access to new markets or product lines, or critical mass.
Since 1999, we have completed five such acquisitions to enhance the breadth of our product
offerings and expand the market and geographic participation of our flexible packaging business
segment.

ACQUISITIONS
Effective October 1, 2002, we purchased the Walki Films Division of UPM-Kymmene for

$68.5 million in cash. This business specializes in high barrier vacuum and modified atmosphere
packaging used primarily for meat, cheese and other fresh foods. With 2001 annual sales of about
$120 million and manufacturing facilities located in Finland and France, this acquisition effec-
tively doubles our European flexible packaging sales.

On July 31, 2002, we acquired the U.S. and French manufacturing operations of the Clysar®

thin gauge shrink film business of E.I. du Pont de Nemours and Company for $142.0 million in
cash. This business enhances the technology base of the high barrier product line, diversifies our
markets with the addition of a broad use shrink film and provides an additional mode of distri-
bution for our full array of products. This business, now known as Bemis Clysar, is expected to
deliver approximately $100 million of sales in 2003.

On September 7, 2001, we acquired the outstanding stock of Duralam, Inc. for a cash purchase
price of $68.4 million. This business included high quality manufacturing operations with capacity
to expand upon the $55 million of annual net sales recorded prior to our acquisition. With the
benefit of close proximity to our existing high barrier facilities, we quickly integrated this business
into our high barrier product line operations.

During 2000, we made three strategic acquisitions to enhance both segments of our business.
In our flexible packaging business, we acquired the specialty plastic films business of Viskase
Companies, Inc. and the assets of the flexible packaging business of Arrow Industries. In periods
before our acquisition, these businesses had recorded net sales of about $183 million of high barri-
er shrink bag and polyethylene products.

In September, 2000, we acquired the pressure sensitive materials product line of Kanzaki
Specialty Papers, Inc., which had recorded about $78 million of net sales of direct thermal pres-
sure sensitive materials products during the period before the transaction.

ANNOUNCED DIVESTITURE
In August 2002, we announced an agreement to sell our pressure sensitive materials business

segment for $420 million in cash to UPM-Kymmene, a large, multinational paper company head-
quartered in Finland. The sale of this business segment will allow us to focus our resources on our
larger flexible packaging business. On October 16, 2002, the European regulatory agency gave
antitrust clearance for the sale of our pressure sensitive materials business to UPM-Kymmene. In
December 2002, Bemis and UPM-Kymmene announced that a request for additional information
had been received from the U. S. Department of Justice in connection with the pending sale of our
pressure sensitive materials business. This request extends the waiting period under the Hart-
Scott-Rodino Act to allow for the review of the additional documents supplied. While both 
companies plan to complete the proposed transaction in the first half of calendar year 2003, the
required regulatory approvals from the U.S. Department of Justice cannot be considered 
perfunctory or certain. Upon receiving U.S. regulatory approval, we will begin discontinued
operations presentation for the pressure sensitive materials business segment in our consolidated
financial statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
CONSOLIDATED

For the year ended December 31, 2002, net sales increased 3.3 percent to $2.37 billion from
net sales of $2.29 billion in 2001. Net sales in 2001 increased 5.9 percent from $2.16 billion in
2000. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, net sales decreased by 1.4 percent in 2002 and 1.9
percent in 2001. In 2002, our flexible packaging business segment experienced a healthy unit
volume growth in our high barrier operations offset by lower net sales in both our polyethylene
and paper product lines, resulting in 1.7 percent of the net sales decline. Net sales in our pressure
sensitive materials business segment increased during 2002. Excluding the impact of acquisitions,
2001 net sales growth of .6 percent contributed by our flexible packaging product lines was more
than offset by a 2.5 percent decrease attributable to net sales of our pressure sensitive materials
business segment during the same period. This business segment has been adversely impacted by
the economic downturn that began in 2000.

On a consolidated basis, our operating profit increased to $316.4 million in 2002, compared
to $285.3 million and $261.4 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Operating profit as a 
percentage of net sales increased to 13.4 percent in 2002 compared to 12.4 percent in 2001 and
12.1 percent in 2000. In the flexible packaging business segment, our high barrier product lines
continue to benefit from our steady investment in state-of-the-art production facilities and efficient
capacity. We have recorded increasing operating margins in our paper packaging product line
over the past three years. These improvements were partially offset by lower operating margins
in our polyethylene product line. The pressure sensitive materials business segment operating
margins, which deteriorated from 2000 to 2001, improved in 2002 as a result of increased 
production efficiencies and cost control. Operating margins in both business segments also 
benefited from the change in accounting for goodwill described below.

Net income for 2002 totaled $165.5 million compared to $140.3 million and $130.6 
million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Diluted earnings per share were $3.08 for 2002, compared
to $2.64 for 2001 and $2.44 for 2000. Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted the requirements of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets.”This new accounting standard requires that goodwill no longer be amortized into earnings
but instead be reviewed for impairment not less than annually. If this standard had been in effect
in 2001 and 2000, diluted earnings per share would have been $2.82 and $2.55, respectively.

FLEXIBLE PACKAGING BUSINESS SEGMENT
We generally classify our flexible packaging products into three product lines: high barrier

products, which are multilayer film packages that provide barrier protection to the contents of the
package; polyethylene products, which include printed shrink unitizing films, monolayer film
packaging, and retail bags sold into food, retail, and industrial end-markets; and paper packaging
products, which supply single and multiwall bags into pet food and industrial markets. Although
many products clearly fall into one particular category, there is some overlap of product lines as
the difference between products in these categories has become less distinct in recent years. For
example, our polyethylene product line is incorporating more unique film structures and consumer
convenience features which have historically been distinct characteristics of our high barrier 
product line.

The major markets we serve are generally less affected by economic cycles and include 
packaging for industries such as food, tissue, medical devices, personal care, chemicals, pet food
and lawn and garden. In addition to these markets, our polyethylene products are also sold to
industrial markets such as packaging for mattresses, shingles and other end uses that tend to be
more sensitive to economic cycles.

The most significant raw materials used in our flexible packaging business segment are 
polymer resins which we use to develop and manufacture single layer and multilayer film products.
Many of our top 50 customers, which represent about 50 percent of our total net sales, are large,
multinational customers that require high volume packaging suppliers. Much of this business is
performed under contract in which selling prices are adjusted periodically to reflect the prevailing
market price of raw material components. Generally, the impact of raw material price changes on
our operating margins is minimized by the use of these contracts. During periods of unusual price
volatility, selling price changes may lag behind changes in raw material pricing. Of the polymer
resins we use, polyethylene resin is the most prevalent and experiences the greatest market price
volatility. Changes in the price of polyethylene resin normally have a corresponding impact on the
net sales of our polyethylene product line.

Our flexible packaging business segment recorded net sales of $1.87 billion in 2002, a 3.8
percent increase compared to $1.80 billion in 2001. Net sales increased 8.6 percent in 2001 from
$1.66 billion in 2000. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, net sales decreased by 2.2 percent in
2002 and increased by about 0.8 percent in 2001. During 2002, unit volume growth in our high
barrier product line was offset by lower unit volumes and competitive pricing pressure in both the
polyethylene and paper product lines. Our polyethylene product line is experiencing a change in
sales mix to products that incorporate more complex graphics and consumer convenience features.
This change created capacity constraints in 2002 and resulted in lower production volumes and
operating inefficiencies. Net sales in 2001 were up modestly in each product line. In 2003, we
expect net sales of flexible packaging to increase by about 12 percent, of which about 8 percent
will be due to the impact of acquisitions made during 2002.

Operating profit increased to $289.1 million from $273.2 million in 2001 and $221.3 million
in 2000. Operating profit as a percentage of net sales increased to 15.5 percent in 2002 compared
to 15.2 percent and 13.3 percent in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Our high barrier product line 
successfully used new capacity and strong order volume to improve production efficiencies during
2002, while capacity constraints and irregular order volumes reduced the profitability of the 
polyethylene product line from the record levels of 2001. In 2003, we expect ongoing improvement
efforts to continue to increase operating profit in many of our product lines. These increases may
be partially offset by increasing employee pension and other benefit costs, additional costs incurred
for the start up of our new medical device packaging film plant in Wisconsin, and costs associated
with the integration of our recently acquired high barrier packaging operations.

PRESSURE SENSITIVE MATERIALS BUSINESS SEGMENT
The pressure sensitive materials business segment offers three product lines: printing products,

which include roll label stock used in a wide variety of label markets; decorative and sheet products,
used to create signage and decorations; and technical products which represent pressure sensitive
components for the electronics, automotive, battery label and medical industries. Our focus on
manufacturing improvements has increased operating margins from the low levels of 2001;
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however, this business continues to be adversely affected by weak economic conditions. As pre-
viously noted, we plan to complete the divestiture of this business segment during the first 
half of 2003.

Paper is the primary raw material used in our pressure sensitive materials business segment.
For the last two years, general economic conditions have had a greater influence on pricing than raw
material costs. This has had an adverse effect on operating margins in these product lines.

Our pressure sensitive materials business segment reported net sales of $499 million in 2002,
up 1.6 percent from $491 million in 2001 and down from $506 million in 2000. Markets remain
very competitive; however, increased unit volumes for printed products in 2002 provided modest
net sales growth.

Improvements in production efficiencies in 2002 led to operating profit as a percentage of
net sales of 5.5 percent compared to 2.5 percent in 2001. Operating profit was $27.3 million in
2002, compared to $12.1 million and $40.1 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. With the imple-
mentation of Six Sigma initiatives in 2001, our focus on training, manufacturing quality controls,
improved customer service, production scheduling efficiency and reduced waste improved operat-
ing margins in 2002.The operating margins of 2001 included $2.1 million of costs associated with
a reorganization of this business segment. The low operating margins in 2001 also reflected
decreasing unit sales volumes and were substantially below the 7.9 percent operating margins 
of 2000.

CONSOLIDATED GROSS MARGIN
Gross margins increased to 22.3 percent of net sales in 2002 compared to 20.8 and 20.7 

percent of net sales in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Margin improvements in both the high barrier
and paper product lines as well as in the pressure sensitive materials business segment were offset
by lower margins in our polyethylene product lines. Ongoing margin improvements in flexible
packaging offset substantially lower pressure sensitive materials business segment margins in
2001. We continue to invest in modern flexible packaging production equipment and new 
technology that increase capacity and reduce manufacturing costs.

CONSOLIDATED SELLING,  GENERAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales increased to 9.7 
percent in 2002 from 9.0 percent in 2001 and 8.9 percent in 2000. Expenses totaled $229.3 
million in 2002, compared to $207.2 million in 2001 and $192.3 million in 2000. During 2002,
we experienced increased costs related to newly acquired businesses and employee benefits. In
2003, we expect selling, general and administrative expenses to be in the range of 9.2 to 9.5 
percent of net sales. Sales growth in 2003 is expected to outpace increasing costs, including 
pension and employee benefit costs.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Research and development expenses increased to $17.4 million in 2002, compared to $10.3 
million and $10.1 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. The $7.1 million increase during 2002
is a reflection of both new procedures established to more effectively capture the costs associated

with those efforts and new product engineering efforts. New products have been introduced and
new production processes have been developed for our flexible packaging product lines, while the
pressure sensitive materials business segment has focused its research and development efforts on
improving existing products and processes. Rather than managing our research and development
effort as a separate business unit, we make it an integral part of our daily plant operations. This
results in lower overhead expense and limits capital requirements. Our research and development
engineers, working directly on commercial production equipment, bring new products to 
market without the use of pilot equipment. We believe this approach significantly improves the
efficiency, effectiveness and relevance of our research and development activities and results in 
earlier commercialization of new products. Expenditures which are not distinctly identifiable as
research and development costs are included in cost of sales.

INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest rates continued to decline during the year, creating significant interest savings. With

substantially all of our outstanding debt subject to variable rates during 2002, interest expense
decreased to $15.4 million compared to $30.3 million in 2001 and $31.6 million in 2000. Strong
cash flow from operations was used to reduce commercial paper outstanding during the first half
of the year, while acquisition financing increased commercial paper balances through the second
half of 2002.

OTHER COSTS (INCOME),  NET
We reported other income, net of other costs, of $1.2 million in 2002 compared to net other

costs of $1.9 million in 2001 and net other costs of $1.4 million in 2000. Results of our Brazilian
joint venture, which is accounted for using the equity method of accounting, represent the largest 
component of other costs and income. The joint venture delivered nearly breakeven results for
2002, compared to a $3.7 million loss in 2001 and a $2.8 million loss in 2000. This business has
benefited from restructuring efforts completed last year. The remaining component of other
income is primarily interest income on cash and demand deposits held by our non-U.S. locations.

Our joint venture in Brazil, Itap/Bemis Ltda., has a 10 percent ownership interest in
Curwood Itap Ltda., our high barrier shrink film business in Brazil. We have entered into an
agreement that provides an option for this joint venture to acquire, at a price based on a specific
fair market value calculation, up to 51 percent ownership in Curwood Itap. If Itap/Bemis Ltda.
exercises this option, the transaction would occur in 2004 and would not be expected to have a
material effect on our financial statements.

MINORITY INTEREST IN NET INCOME
Minority interest in net income reflects the results of our majority owned joint ventures in

Mexico and Brazil. Prior to January 2000, 13 percent of our pressure sensitive materials business
segment was owned by minority shareholders. With the acquisition of these minority shares in
January 2000, this business segment became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bemis Company, Inc.
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RETURN ON INVESTMENT
Return on average stockholders’ equity in 2002 was 17.9 percent compared to 16.7 percent

in 2001 and 17.1 percent in 2000. Operating profit as a percentage of average investment was 17.0
percent in 2002 compared to 17.5 percent in 2001 and 16.8 percent in 2000. Comparably lower
profit in our polyethylene product line and our newly acquired European packaging operation
dampened operating profit percentages in 2002.

Operating profit as a percentage of average investment for the flexible packaging business
segment was 18.5 percent in 2002 compared to 20.5 percent in 2001 and 17.2 percent in 2000.
Again, lower returns in polyethylene products and newly acquired flexible packaging businesses
impacted these results during 2002. This same ratio for the pressure sensitive materials business
segment was 9.1 percent in 2002 compared to 4.1 percent in 2001 and 14.6 percent in 2000,
reflecting the 2002 improvement from the low performance levels of 2001.

Return on average total capital was 10.3 percent in 2002, 10.0 percent in 2001, and 10.8 
percent in 2000. Total capital is defined as the sum of all short-term and long-term interest-
bearing debt, including obligations under capital leases, stockholders’ equity, and deferred taxes.
Return on total capital is based on net income adjusted for interest expense on an after-tax basis.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
Capital expenditures were lower in 2002, totaling $91 million compared to $117 million 

in 2001 and $100 million in 2000. The 2001 acquisition of Duralam, Inc. delivered additional
capacity to the high barrier product line, effectively reducing the need for capital expenditures in
2002. Additionally, during 2001 we purchased an idle polyethylene plant in Prattville, Alabama,
which provided additional capacity for the polyethylene product line. One of the more significant
projects in 2002 has been the construction of the new film plant for the medical device packaging
business expected to begin operations in the summer of 2003. Capital expenditures for 2003 are
expected to be approximately $120 million, nearly equivalent to our total annual depreciation and
amortization charge.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE,  LIQUIDITY AND CASH FLOW
At December 31, 2002, our debt to total capitalization ratio was 40.5 percent, compared to

37.3 percent and 42.7 percent at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in 2002
from 2001 reflects the impact of two acquisitions made during the year that were partially financed
by the issuance of commercial paper. Subject to receiving regulatory approval and the subsequent 
completion of the sale of the pressure sensitive materials business segment, we expect to receive
proceeds, net of taxes and transaction related fees, of approximately $300 million, which we
presently intend to use to reduce commercial paper outstanding. During 2001, strong operating
cash flow decreased outstanding debt by about $71 million.

Our capital structure and financial practices have earned Bemis Company long-term credit
ratings of “A” from Standard and Poor’s and “A2” from Moody’s Investors Service, and a credit 
rating of “A-1” and “P-1” for our commercial paper program from Standard and Poor’s and
Moody’s Investors Service, respectively. Our strong financial position and credit ratings are impor-
tant to our ability to issue commercial paper at favorable rates of interest.

At year-end, our debt outstanding included $321 million of commercial paper and $350 
million of long-term unsecured notes. Based upon our current credit rating, we enjoy ready access
to the commercial paper markets. While not anticipated, if these markets were to become illiquid
or if a credit rating downgrade limited our ability to issue commercial paper, we would draw upon
existing back-up credit facilities.These credit facilities, which totaled $584 million at year-end, are
supported by a group of major U.S. and international banks. Covenants imposed by these bank
credit facilities include limits on the sale of businesses, minimum net worth calculations, and a
maximum ratio of debt to total capitalization. In addition to funds available under these credit 
facilities, we also have the capability of issuing up to approximately $100 million of Extendable
Commercial Notes (ECNs) which are short-term instruments whose maturity can be extended to
390 days from the date of issuance. The pending sale of the pressure sensitive materials business
segment will impact a substantial portion of our assets as defined in the credit agreements. As
such, the pending transaction requires and has received approval by the participating banks. If
these credit facilities and ECNs were no longer available to us, we would meet our financial 
liquidity needs by accessing the bank market, which would increase our borrowing cost.

Our long-term unsecured notes include $100 million due in 2005 and $250 million due in
2008. In September 2001, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with three U.S. banks
which increased our exposure to variable rates. We generally prefer variable rate debt since it has
been our experience that borrowing at variable rates is less expensive than borrowing at fixed rates
over the long term. These interest rate swap agreements reduced the interest cost of the $350 
million of long-term debt from about 6.6 percent to about 2.9 percent in 2002. Since these variable
rates are based upon six-month London Interbank Offered Rates (LIBOR) at the semiannual
interest payment dates of the corresponding notes, increases in short-term interest rates will
directly impact the amount of interest we pay. For each one percent increase in variable interest
rates, the annual interest expense on $687 million of total outstanding debt would increase by 
$6.9 million.

Generally accepted accounting principles require that the fair value of these swaps, which
have been designated as hedges of our fixed rate unsecured notes outstanding, be recorded as an
asset or liability of the company. The fair value of these swaps was recorded as an asset of $31.8 
million at December 31, 2002, and as a liability of $1.3 million at December 31, 2001. For each
period, an offsetting increase or decrease is recorded in the fair value of the related long-term notes 
outstanding. The net effect of these adjustments in 2002 was an increase in total assets and total
liabilities. These fair value adjustments do not impact the actual balance of outstanding principal
due on the notes nor do they impact the income statement or related cash flows. Credit loss from
counterparty nonperformance is not anticipated.

We did not make any share repurchases during 2002, and made minimal purchases of $1.2
million during 2001. Treasury stock purchases during 2000 were $42.8 million. Management
is presently authorized by our Board of Directors to purchase up to 2.3 million shares of addi-
tional stock for the treasury.

Contributions were not required to be made to the Bemis Company defined benefit pension
plans during 2002, 2001 or 2000, nor do we expect contributions to be required in 2003. We 
estimate that a contribution to the plans will be required during 2004 of approximately $4 million.

Cash flow from operations was $286.7 million in 2002, compared to $317.9 million in 2001
and $207.5 million in 2000. Cash flow during 2001 benefited from reduced working capital 
levels which provided cash of $43.1 million.
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We believe that cash generated by operating activities together with cash available through
commercial paper issuance will be more than adequate to fund all of the requirements which are
reasonably foreseeable in 2003. On January 10, 2003, the $584 million bank credit facility 
currently used to provide additional back up for the commercial paper program was reduced to
$549 million. This will reduce the cost of maintaining excess liquidity and yet provide sufficient
liquidity to meet our future financing needs.

Cash required to meet our short-term and long-term debt obligations and operating lease
payments is summarized in the following table:

(in thousands) Debt Payments Lease Payments Total

Payments due in 2003 $ 3,516 $7,705 $ 11,221
Payments due in 2004 1,584 4,664 6,248
Payments due in 2005 100,709 3,021 103,730
Payments due in 2006 318,500 2,203 320,703
Payments due in 2007 196 1,729 1,925
Payments due beyond 2007 265,500 6,347 271,847

Commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2002, has been classified as long-term debt
in accordance with our ability to refinance such obligations on a long-term basis.The related back-
up credit agreement expires in 2006.

MARKET RISKS AND FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURES
We enter into contractual arrangements (derivatives) in the ordinary course of business to

manage foreign currency exposure and interest rate risks. We do not enter into derivative transactions
for trading purposes. Our use of derivative instruments is subject to internal policies that provide
guidelines for control, counterparty risk, and ongoing reporting. These derivative instruments are
designed to reduce the income statement volatility associated with movement in foreign exchange
rates and to achieve greater exposure to variable interest rates.

Our international operations enter into forward foreign currency exchange contracts to 
manage foreign currency exchange rate exposures associated with certain foreign currency denom-
inated receivables and payables, principally for transactions in non-Euro zone countries. At
December 31, 2002 and 2001, we had outstanding forward foreign currency exchange contracts
aggregating $5.0 million and $3.2 million, respectively. Forward contracts generally have maturities
of less than nine months and relate primarily to major Western European currencies.
Counterparties to the forward contracts are major financial institutions. Credit loss from counter-
party nonperformance is not anticipated. On January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 133 requires that the
fair value of the derivative instruments, such as forward foreign currency exchange contracts, be
recorded on the balance sheet with subsequent changes reflected in income or deferred as an 
element of equity. We have not designated these derivative instruments as hedging instruments.
The $7,600 net settlement expense (fair value) related to active forward foreign currency exchange
contracts is recorded on the balance sheet and as an element of other costs (income), net.

INCOME TAXES
Our effective tax rate was 38.0 percent in 2002 and 38.3 percent in 2001 and 2000. The 

difference between our overall tax rate and the U.S. statutory tax rate of 35 percent in each of those
three years principally relates to state and local income taxes net of federal income tax benefits.

Upon completion of the pending sale of our pressure sensitive materials business segment,
we would expect our effective tax rate to increase from 38.0 percent up to approximately 39.0 
percent due to the change in composition of income in non-U.S. jurisdictions.

DIVIDENDS
We increased our quarterly cash dividend by 4.0 percent during the first quarter of 2002 to

26 cents per share from 25 cents per share. This followed increases of 4.2 percent and 4.3 percent
in 2001 and 2000, respectively.

In February 2003, the Board of Directors approved the 20th consecutive annual increase in
the quarterly cash dividend on common stock to 28 cents per share from 26 cents per share, a 7.7
percent increase.

LONG-TERM COMPENSATION
Our practice of awarding long-term compensation has relied primarily on restricted stock

programs which are valued at the time of the award and expensed over the vesting period.
Pursuant to SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Options,” we disclose the impact of stock
options outstanding in the footnotes accompanying our financial statements. If we followed the
SFAS No. 123 method of recognizing expense for stock options, diluted earnings per share would
have been reduced by $.02 in 2002, $.02 in 2001 and $.07 in 2000.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon

our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial state-
ments and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis,
management evaluates its estimates and judgments, including those related to retirement benefits,
intangible assets, goodwill and expected future performance of operations. Our estimates and
judgments are based upon historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following are critical accounting estimates used in the preparation of our 
consolidated financial statements.
• The calculation of annual pension costs and related assets and liabilities; and
• The valuation and useful lives of intangible assets and goodwill.
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ACCOUNTING FOR ANNUAL PENSION COSTS
We account for our defined benefit pension plans in accordance with SFAS No. 87,

“Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” which requires that amounts recognized in financial state-
ments be determined on an actuarial basis. A substantial portion of our pension amounts relate to
our defined benefit plans in the United States. As permitted by SFAS No. 87, we use a calculated
value of plan assets (which is further described below). SFAS No. 87 requires that the effects of
the performance of the pension plan’s assets and changes in pension liability discount rates on the
company’s computation of pension income or expense be amortized over future periods. Pension
income recorded in 2002 was $3.2 million.

One element used in determining annual pension income and expense in accordance with
SFAS No. 87 is the expected return on plan assets. As of January 1, 2003, we have assumed that
the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets will be 9.5 percent. This represents a decrease
of one half of one percent from the 10 percent level assumed for 2002 and 2001. Using historical
long-term investment periods of 15 and 20 years, our pension plan assets have earned rates of
return in excess of our assumed rates. In addition, using our target asset allocation of plan assets,
our outside actuaries have used their independent economic model to calculate a range of expect-
ed long-term rates of return and have determined our assumptions to be reasonable.

This assumed long-term rate of return on assets is applied to a calculated value of plan assets,
which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan assets in a systematic manner over about three
years.This process calculates the expected return on plan assets that is included in pension income
or expense. The difference between this expected return and the actual return on plan assets is 
generally deferred and recognized over subsequent periods. The net deferral of asset gains and
losses affects the calculated value of pension plan assets and, ultimately, future pension income 
and expense.

The plan assets have earned a rate of return substantially less than 9.5 percent for the last
three years.The effect of this lower performance is to increase pension expense in future years until
all of the difference from the assumed rate has been amortized into income. Should this trend 
continue, we would be required to reconsider and reduce our expected rate of return on plan assets
and recognize deferred losses on an accelerated basis.

At the end of each year, we determine the discount rate to be used to calculate the present
value of pension plan liabilities. This discount rate is an estimate of the current interest rate
at which the pension liabilities could be effectively settled at the end of the year. In 
estimating this rate, we look to rates of return on high quality, fixed income investments that
receive one of the two highest ratings given by a recognized ratings agency. At December 31,
2002, we determined this rate to be 6.75 percent, a decrease of one quarter of one percent from
the rate used at December 31, 2001.

PENSION ASSUMPTIONS SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
Based upon current assumptions of 6.75 percent for the discount rate and 9.5 percent for the

expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets, we expect pension expense before the
effect of income taxes for 2003 to be approximately $8 million. The following charts depict the
sensitivity of estimated 2003 pension expense to incremental changes in the discount rate and the
expected long-term rate of return on assets.

(dollars in millions) Rate of Return 
Discount rate Increase (decrease) On Assets Increase (decrease)

6.25 percent $ 1.1 8.50 percent $ 3.4
6.50 percent 0.5 9.00 percent 1.7
6.75 percent 0.0 9.50 percent 0.0
7.00 percent (0.5) 10.00 percent (1.7)
7.25 percent (1.0) 10.50 percent (3.4)

At December 31, 2002, the actuarially measured value of the accumulated benefit obligations
under the plans exceeded the fair value of the pension plan assets resulting in a charge to other
comprehensive income, net of taxes, of approximately $48 million.The following chart depicts the
sensitivity of the pension liability adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income, net of
taxes, to changes in the assumed discount rate.

(dollars in millions)
Discount rate Increase (decrease)

6.25 percent $ 12.0
6.50 percent 5.9
6.75 percent 0.0
7.00 percent (5.7)
7.25 percent (11.3)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
The purchase price of each new acquisition is allocated to tangible assets, identifiable intan-

gible assets, liabilities assumed and goodwill. Determining the portion of the purchase price
allocated to identifiable intangible assets and goodwill requires us to make significant estimates.
The amount of the purchase price allocated to intangible assets is generally determined by
estimating the future cash flows of each asset and discounting the net cash flows back to their
present values. The discount rate used is determined at the time of the acquisition in accordance
with accepted valuation methods.

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate purchase price over the fair value of net assets
acquired, including intangible assets. We review our goodwill for impairment annually and assess
whether significant events or changes in the business circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of the goodwill may not be recoverable. The test for impairment requires us to make 
estimates about fair value, most of which are based on projected future cash flows. Our estimates
associated with the goodwill impairment tests are considered critical due to the amount of
goodwill recorded on our consolidated balance sheet and the judgment required in determining
fair value amounts, including projected future cash flows. Goodwill was $448 million as of
December 31, 2002.

Intangible assets consist primarily of purchased technology, customer relationships, patents,
trademarks and tradenames and are amortized using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives, ranging from 1 to 20 years. We review these intangible assets for
impairment annually or as changes in circumstances or the occurrence of events suggest that the
remaining value is not recoverable. The test for impairment requires us to make estimates about
fair value, most of which are based on projected future cash flows.
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NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement

Obligations,” which must be adopted no later than January 1, 2003. This statement establishes
accounting standards for recognition and measurement of liability for an asset retirement 
obligation and the associated asset retirement cost. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 is not expected
to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities.” The provisions of this statement are effective for disposal activities initiated after
December 31, 2002. This new standard is expected to principally impact the ultimate timing of
charges recorded as opposed to the amount of a charge.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others.” At December 31, 2002, Bemis does not have any significant guarantees or required
disclosures under this interpretation.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure. An amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.” We
have adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148 but the alternative transition options
made available by the standard are not being implemented.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities,” addressing the requirements for business enterprises to consolidate related entities in
which they are determined to be the primary beneficiary as a result of their variable economic
interests. Based upon a review of our major commercial relationships and economic interests, we
believe we have appropriately met these recording requirements through our equity accounting.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report contains certain estimates, predictions, and other “forward-looking

statements” (as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, and within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Forward-looking statements are generally identified
with the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” “target,” “may,” “will,” “plan,”
“project,” “should,” “continue,” or the negative thereof or other similar expressions, or discussion
of future goals or aspirations, which are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and

which do not relate to historical matters. Such statements are based on information available to
management as of the time of such statements and relate to, among other things, expectations of
the business  environment in which we operate, projections of future performance (financial and
otherwise), expectations about the completion of the sale of our pressure sensitive materials
business segment, perceived opportunities in the market and statements regarding our mission and
vision. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors, which may cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from
anticipated future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statement, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ from those expected include, but are not
limited to, general economic conditions caused by inflation, interest rates, consumer confidence,
rates of unemployment and foreign currency exchange rates; investment performance of assets
in our pension plans; operating results and cash flows from acquisitions may differ from what
we anticipate; results of the U.S. regulatory agency review of the transaction to sell the pressure
sensitive materials business segment; competitive conditions within our markets, including the
acceptance of our new and existing products; threats or challenges to our patented or proprietary
technologies; raw material costs, availability and terms, particularly for polymer resins; price
changes for raw materials and our ability to pass these price changes on to our customers or 
otherwise manage commodity price fluctuation risks; the presence of adequate cash available for
investment in our business in order to maintain desired debt levels; changes in governmental
regulation, especially in the areas of environmental, health and safety matters, and foreign
investment; unexpected outcomes in our current and future litigation proceedings; changes in
our labor relations; and the impact of changes in the world political environment including
threatened or actual armed conflict. These and other risks, uncertainties, and assumptions 
identified from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
including without limitation, our Annual Report on Form 10-K and our quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, could cause actual future results to differ materially from those projected in the for-
ward-looking statements. In addition, actual future results could differ materially from those
projected in the forward-looking statement as a result of changes in the assumptions used in
making such forward-looking statement.
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BEMIS COMMON STOCK PERFORMANCE*
2002 2001 2000

Dividend Dividend Dividend
High Low Paid High Low Paid High Low Paid

First Quarter $58.24 $46.64 $.26 $35.99 $28.69 $.25 $36.88 $27.50 $.24
Second Quarter 57.05 47.09 .26 40.65 31.60 .25 38.50 33.13 .24
Third Quarter 54.37 39.40 .26 44.99 35.85 .25 37.13 31.19 .24
Fourth Quarter 54.30 45.53 .26 52.47 39.34 .25 34.50 24.06 .24

*Common stock for Bemis Company, Inc. is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol BMS.
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review
FIVE-YEAR  CONSOL IDATED

Years Ended December 31,
(dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Operating Data
Net sales $ 2,369.0 $ 2,293.1 $ 2,164.6 $ 1,962.6 $ 1,889.4
Cost of products sold and other expenses 2,086.5 2,035.4 1,921.5 1,755.5 1,702.5
Interest expense 15.5 30.3 31.6 21.2 21.9
Income before income taxes 267.0 227.4 211.5 185.9 165.0
Provision for income taxes 101.5 87.1 80.9 71.1 63.9
Net income 165.5 140.3 130.6 114.8 101.1
Net income as a percent of net sales 7.0% 6.1% 6.0% 5.8% 5.4%

Common Share Data
Basic earnings per share $ 3.13 $ 2.66 $ 2.46 $ 2.19 $ 1.91
Diluted earnings per share 3.08 2.64 2.44 2.18 1.90
Dividends per share 1.04 1.00 .96 .92 .88
Book value per share 18.11 16.76 15.18 13.91 13.16
Stock price/earnings ratio range 13-19x 11-20x 10-16x 14-18x 18-25x
Weighted-average shares outstanding for computation 

of diluted earnings per share 53,746,487 53,121,798 53,552,703 52,657,068 53,323,704
Common shares outstanding at December 31, 52,943,738 52,869,929 52,602,414 52,188,715 52,269,158

Capital Structure and Other Data
Current ratio 2.2 2.5 1.3 2.3 2.2
Working capital 395.8 348.7 144.9 330.3 301.3
Total assets 2,256.7 1,923.0 1,888.6 1,532.1 1,482.0
Short-term debt 5.2 5.7 234.8 6.8 6.5
Long-term debt 718.3 595.2 438.0 372.3 371.4
Stockholders’ equity 959.0 886.1 798.8 725.9 687.9
Return on average stockholders’ equity 17.9% 16.7% 17.1% 16.2% 14.9%
Return on average total capital 10.3% 10.0% 10.8% 10.9% 10.3%
Depreciation and amortization 119.2 124.1 108.1 97.7 88.9
Capital expenditures 91.0 117.5 100.4 137.4 139.8
Number of common stockholders 4,542 4,747 5,005 5,316 5,721
Number of employees 11,837 11,012 10,969 9,534 9,364
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MANAGEMENT ’S  RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The management of Bemis Company, Inc., is responsible for the integrity, objectivity,

and accuracy of the financial statements of the Company. The financial statements are
prepared  by the Company in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, and using management’s best estimates and judgments, where
appropriate. The financial information presented throughout the Annual Report is consistent
with that in the financial statements.

Management is also responsible for maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records reflect
the transactions of the Company, and that assets are protected against loss from unauthorized
use or disposition. Such a system is maintained through written accounting policies and
procedures, administered by trained Company personnel and updated on a continuing basis
to ensure their adequacy to meet the changing requirements of our business. The Company
also maintains an internal audit department that evaluates the adequacy of and investigates
adherence to these controls and procedures. In addition, the Company requires that all of its
affairs, as reflected by the actions of its employees, will be conducted on a high ethical plane.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, are retained to audit the financial
statements. Their audit is conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America and includes selective reviews of internal accounting controls.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of outside
directors, meets quarterly with management, the internal audit manager, and independent
accountants to review the work of each and to satisfy itself that the respective parties are prop-
erly discharging their responsibilities. Both PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the internal
audit manager have had and continue to have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee,
without the presence of Company management, for the purpose of discussing the results of
their examination and their opinions on the adequacy of internal accounting controls and the
quality of financial reporting.

Jeffrey H. Curler Gene C. Wulf Stanley A. Jaffy
President and Vice President, Chief Financial Vice President and
Chief Executive Officer Officer and Treasurer Controller

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Bemis Company, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated
statements of income, of stockholders’ equity, and of cash flows present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Bemis Company, Inc., and its subsidiaries at December 31,
2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

As described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company
adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets.”

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
January 22, 2003
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income
CONSOL IDATED  S TATEMENT  OF

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 2000

Net sales $ 2,369,038 $ 2,293,104 $ 2,164,583  

Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold 1,840,115 1,815,442 1,717,259
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 229,325 207,158 192,275
Research and development 17,446 10,313 10,080 
Interest expense 15,445 30,343 31,609 
Other costs (income), net (1,206) 1,869 1,362
Minority interest in net income 898 554 496 

Income before income taxes 267,015 227,425 211,502 

Provision for income taxes 101,500 87,100 80,900 

Net income $ 165,515 $ 140,325 $ 130,602 

Basic earnings per share of common stock $ 3.13 $ 2.66 $ 2.46

Diluted earnings per share of common stock $ 3.08 $ 2.64 $ 2.44

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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sheet
CONSOL IDATED  BALANCE

December 31,

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2002 2001

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash $ 56,401 $ 35,101 
Accounts receivable, less $13,689 and $14,434

for doubtful accounts and allowances 321,790 258,397 
Inventories 308,344 259,755 
Prepaid expenses 35,120 33,644 

Total current assets 721,655 586,897 

Property and equipment:
Land and land improvements 22,520 20,369 
Buildings and leasehold improvements 306,466 268,470 
Machinery and equipment 1,190,516 1,108,275 
Total property and equipment 1,519,502 1,397,114 
Less accumulated depreciation (609,549) (544,394)

Net property and equipment 909,953 852,720

Other long-term assets:
Goodwill 448,009 333,275 
Other intangible assets 76,176 85,825
Deferred charges and other assets 100,857 64,257 

Total other long-term assets 625,042 483,357 

Total assets $ 2,256,650 $ 1,922,974 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2002 2001

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt $ 3,516 $ 3,572 
Short-term borrowings 1,714 2,091
Accounts payable 230,468 173,766 
Accrued liabilities:

Salaries and wages 71,610 45,241 
Income taxes 8,248 4,151 
Other 10,297 9,361 

Total current liabilities 325,853 238,182 

Long-term debt, less current portion 718,277 595,249 
Deferred taxes 106,050 121,979 
Other liabilities and deferred credits 143,056 79,288 

Total liabilities 1,293,236 1,034,698 

Minority interest 4,440 2,128 

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.10 par value:

Authorized–248,000,000 shares
Issued–61,344,887 and 61,270,317 shares 6,134 6,127 

Capital in excess of par value 248,206 244,978 
Retained earnings 1,052,475 942,019 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (97,497) (56,659)
Common stock held in treasury, 8,401,149 and 8,400,388 shares, at cost (250,344) (250,317)

Total stockholders’ equity 958,974 886,148 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 2,256,650 $ 1,922,974

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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cash flows
CONSOL IDATED  S TATEMENT  OF

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 165,515 $ 140,325 $ 130,602 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 119,231 124,147 108,130 
Minority interest in net income 898 554 496 
Stock award compensation 15,210 11,332 6,339
Deferred income taxes 19,391 14,103 16,536
Losses of unconsolidated affiliated companies 208 2,320 2,732 
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment 1,279 1,221 234 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable (28,373) 48,973 (50,915)
Inventories (20,083) 19,403 19,525 
Prepaid expenses (127) 2,142 1,034 
Accounts payable 26,879 (42,989) (6,790)
Accrued salaries and wages 826 7,565 5,233 
Accrued income taxes 4,561 7,782 (4,174)
Accrued other taxes (205) 257 (145)
Changes in other liabilities and deferred credits (2,128) 14,850 (6,306) 
Changes in deferred charges and other investments (16,352) (34,046) (15,073)

Net cash provided by operating activities 286,730 317,939 207,458 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment (91,004) (117,481) (100,420)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (209,583) (72,155) (295,075)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 416 867 1,943
Other (1,082)

Net cash used by investing activities $(300,171) $ (188,769) $ (394,634)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from long-term debt $ 88,995 $ 160,001 $ 66,713 
Repayment of long-term debt (1,295) (973)
Change in short-term borrowings (724) (5,135) 2,034 
Change in current portion of long-term debt (304) (223,889) 226,410 
Cash dividends paid to stockholders (55,059) (52,812) (51,158)
Purchase of common stock for the treasury (1,226) (42,752)
Stock incentive programs 687 

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities 32,908 (123,669) 200,274 

Effect of exchange rates on cash 1,833 690 (2,375)

Net increase in cash 21,300 6,191 10,723 
Cash balance at beginning of year 35,101 28,910 18,187 

Cash balance at end of year $ 56,401 $ 35,101 $ 28,910 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Business Acquisitions, net of cash acquired:
Working capital acquired (net) $ 25,214 $ 5,052 $ (82)
Property acquired (net) 74,061 16,813 59,978 
Goodwill and intangible assets acquired 112,783 49,085 251,640 
Deferred charges and other assets acquired 333 3,000
Long-term debt, deferred taxes, and other liabilities (2,808) (1,795)
Minority interest acquired 38,388
Net value acquired 209,583 72,155 349,924
Common stock issued (54,849)
Cash used for acquisition $ 209,583 $ 72,155 $ 295,075

Interest paid during the year $ 15,939 $ 23,209 $ 33,275 
Income taxes paid during the year $ 82,202 $ 63,632 $ 70,638 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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statement
CONSOL IDATED  S TOCKHOLDERS ’  EQUI TY

Capital In Accumulated Other Common Total
Common Excess Of Retained Comprehensive Stock Held Stockholders’

(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Stock Par Value Earnings Income (Loss) In Treasury Equity

Balance at December 31, 1999 $ 5,910 $ 181,957 $ 775,011 $ (30,644) $ (206,339) $ 725,895
Net income 130,602 130,602
Translation adjustment (19,178) (19,178)
Pension liability adjustment, net of $(642) tax benefit (33) (33) 
Total comprehensive income 111,391
Cash dividends paid on common stock $.96 per share (51,107) (51,107)
1,730,952 shares of common stock issued

in acquisition of minority interest 173 54,676 54,849
Stock incentive programs and related tax effects 14 467 481 
Purchase of 1,460,900 shares of common stock (42,752) (42,752)

Balance at December 31, 2000 6,097 237,100 854,506 (49,855) (249,091) 798,757
Net income 140,325 140,325 
Translation adjustment (6,634) (6,634)
Pension liability adjustment, net of $(108) tax benefit (170) (170)
Total comprehensive income 133,521 
Cash dividends paid on common stock $1.00 per share (52,812) (52,812)
Stock incentive programs and related tax effects 30 7,878 7,908
Purchase of 30,000 shares of common stock (1,226) (1,226)

Balance at December 31, 2001 6,127 244,978 942,019 (56,659) (250,317) 886,148 
Net income 165,515 165,515 
Translation adjustment 7,015 7,015
Pension liability adjustment, net of $(29,313) tax benefit (47,853) (47,853)
Total comprehensive income 124,677
Cash dividends paid on common stock $1.04 per share (55,059) (55,059)
Stock incentive programs and related tax effects 7 3,228 3,235
Common stock transaction (761 shares) related to an  

escrow settlement of a previous subsidiary acquisition (27) (27)

Balance at December 31, 2002 $ 6,134 $ 248,206 $ 1,052,475 $ (97,497) $ (250,344) $ 958,974 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1–DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS
Bemis Company, Inc., a Missouri corporation, was founded in 1858 and incorporated in 1885 as

Bemis Bro. Bag Company. In 1965 the name was changed to Bemis Company, Inc. Based in
Minneapolis, Minnesota, the Company employs nearly 12,000 individuals in 55 manufacturing facilities
in nine countries around the world. The Company is a principal manufacturer of flexible packaging 
products and pressure sensitive materials selling to customers throughout the United States, Canada, and
Europe with a growing presence in Asia Pacific, South America, and Mexico.

The Company’s business activities are organized around its two business segments, Flexible
Packaging, which accounted for approximately 79 percent of 2002 net sales, and Pressure Sensitive
Materials, which accounted for the remaining net sales. The Company’s flexible packaging business has a
strong technical base in polymer chemistry, film extrusion, coating, laminating, printing, and converting.
The Company’s pressure sensitive materials business specializes in adhesive technologies. The primary
market for the Company’s products is the food industry which accounted for approximately 65 percent
of 2002 net sales. Other markets include chemical, agribusiness, medical, pharmaceutical, personal care
products, batteries, electronics, automotive, construction, graphic industries, and other consumer goods.
All markets are considered to be highly competitive as to price, innovation, quality, and service.

NOTE 2–SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
the Company and its majority owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and
accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

REVENUE RECOGNITION: Sales and related cost of sales are recognized primarily upon shipment of
products or when all of the conditions of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 101 are fulfilled. There are no significant post delivery obligations and all related costs asso-
ciated with revenue are recognized at the time of sale.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT: Research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred.

EARNINGS PER SHARE: Basic earnings per common share are computed by dividing 
net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted
earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the year including common stock equivalents, if dilutive.

INVENTORY VALUATION: Inventories are valued at the lower of cost, determined by the first-in,
first-out (FIFO) method, or market.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT: Property and equipment are stated at cost. Plant and equipment are
depreciated for financial reporting purposes principally using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of assets as follows: land improvements, 15-30 years; buildings, 15-45 years; leasehold and
building improvements, 8-20 years; and machinery and equipment, 3-16 years. For tax purposes, the
Company generally uses accelerated methods of depreciation. The tax effect of the difference between
book and tax depreciation has been provided as deferred income taxes. On sale or retirement, the asset
cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any related gain or loss is
reflected in income. Maintenance and repairs that do not improve efficiency or extend economic life are
expensed as incurred. Interest costs, which are capitalized during the construction of major capital 
projects, totaled $55,000 in 2002, $197,000 in 2001, and $1,653,000 in 2000.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS No. 144, effective for 
financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, addresses issues relating to the
implementation of SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for 
Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” and develops a single accounting model for long-lived assets to
be disposed of by sale, whether previously held and used or newly acquired. The adoption of SFAS No.
144 on January 1, 2002, had no impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

GOODWILL: Goodwill represents the excess of cost over net assets of businesses acquired. Effective
January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the reporting requirements of SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and, as required, has
applied its requirements to acquisitions made after June 30, 2001. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill
and indefinite-lived intangible assets are no longer amortized but are reviewed at least annually
for impairment. Contractual or separable intangible assets that have finite useful lives will continue
to be amortized over their useful lives.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS: Intangible assets are being amortized against income using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives, with periods ranging up to 20 years. The straight-line method
of amortization reflects an appropriate allocation of the costs of the intangible assets to earnings in 
proportion to the amount of economic benefits obtained by the Company in each reporting period. The
Company periodically reviews intangible assets for impairment and assesses whether significant events 
or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be fully 
recoverable. Recoverability is assessed by comparing anticipated undiscounted future cash flows from
operations to net book value.

TAXES ON UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS: No provision is made for U.S. income taxes on 
earnings of non-U.S. subsidiary companies which the Company controls but does not include in the
consolidated federal income tax return since it is management’s practice and intent to indefinitely
reinvest the earnings.

statements
NOTES  TO  CONSOL IDATED  F INANC IAL
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TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES: The Company considers the local currency to be the
reporting currency for all foreign subsidiaries. Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate as
of the balance sheet date. All revenue and expense accounts are translated at average exchange rates in
effect during the year. Translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of equity.

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS): The components of accumu-
lated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows as of December 31,:

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Foreign currency translation $(47,743) $(54,758) $(48,124)
Minimum pension liability (49,754) (1,901) (1,731)

Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) $(97,497) $(56,659) $(49,855)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS: For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash includes cash on hand
and demand deposit accounts.

PREFERRED STOCK PURCHASE RIGHTS: On July 29, 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors
adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan by declaring a dividend of one preferred share purchase right for each
outstanding share of common stock. Under certain circumstances, a right may be exercised to purchase
one two-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Preferred Stock for $120, subject to adjustment. The
rights become exercisable if, subject to certain exceptions, a person or group acquires beneficial ownership
of 15 percent or more of the Company’s outstanding common stock or announces an offer which would
result in such person acquiring beneficial ownership of 15 percent or more of the Company’s outstanding
common stock. If a person or group acquires beneficial ownership of 15 percent or more of the Company’s
outstanding common stock, subject to certain exceptions, each right will entitle its holder to buy common
stock of the Company having a market value of twice the exercise price of the right. The rights expire
August 23, 2009, and may be redeemed by the Company for $.001 per right at any time before a person
becomes a beneficial owner of 15 percent or more of the Company’s outstanding common stock. The
Company’s Board of Directors has designated 600,000 shares of Series A Junior Preferred Stock with a
par value of $1 per share that relate to the Shareholder Rights Plan. At December 31, 2002, none of these
shares were issued or outstanding.

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION: In December 2002, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—
Transition and Disclosure. An amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.” The Company is choosing to
continue with its current practice of applying the recognition and measurement principles of APB No.
25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” The Company has adopted the disclosure requirements
of SFAS No. 148 in its discussion of stock based employee compensation but the alternative transition
options made available by the standard are not being implemented.

The intrinsic value method is used to account for stock-based compensation plans. If compensation
expense had been determined based on the fair value method, net income and income per share would
have been adjusted to the pro forma amounts as follows:

(dollars in thousands, 
except per share amounts) 2002 2001 2000

Net income–as reported $165,515 $140,325 $130,602
Add: Stock-based 

compensation expense
included in net income,
net of related tax effects 9,428 6,992 3,914

Deduct: Total stock-based 
compensation expense
determined under fair value,
net of related tax effects (10,537) (8,227) (7,857)

Net income–pro forma $164,406 $139,090 $126,659

Basic earnings per share–as reported $ 3.13 $ 2.66 $ 2.46
Basic earnings per share–pro forma $ 3.11 $ 2.63 $ 2.38

Diluted earnings per share–as reported $ 3.08 $ 2.64 $ 2.44
Diluted earnings per share–pro forma $ 3.06 $ 2.62 $ 2.37

Compensation expense for pro forma purposes is reflected over the vesting period. Note 9 contains
the significant assumptions used in determining the underlying fair value of options.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended, establishes standards for recognition and measurement of derivatives and 
hedging activities and requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at fair
value. Pursuant to SFAS No. 133, derivative instruments such as forward foreign currency exchange
contracts and interest rate swap arrangements are recorded at fair value. Implementation of this standard
as required on January 1, 2001, did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or
results of operation.

ENVIRONMENTAL COST: The Company is involved in a number of environmental related disputes
and claims. The Company accrues for environmental costs when it is probable that these costs will be
incurred and can be reasonably estimated. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, reserves were $751,000 and
$778,000, respectively. Adjustments to the reserve accounts and costs which were directly expensed
for environmental remediation matters resulted in charges to the income statements for 2002, 2001,
and 2000 of $327,000, $406,000, and $183,000, net of third party reimbursements totaling $101,000,
$5,000, and $150,000, for 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS REQUIRED: The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
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NOTE 3–NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for

Asset Retirement Obligations,” which must be adopted no later than January 1, 2003. This statement
establishes accounting standards for recognition and measurement of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation and the associated asset retirement cost.The adoption of SFAS No. 143 is not expected to have
a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This standard reviews the accounting for certain exit
costs and disposal activities currently set forth in Emerging Issues Task Force issue No. 94-3, “Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” The principal change relates to the requirements necessary
for recognition of a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity. The new statement
requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the 
liability is incurred versus the date of commitment to an exit plan. This statement is effective for exit 
and disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company expects the new standard to 
principally impact the ultimate timing of when charges are recorded as opposed to the amount of the 
ultimate charge.

In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation No. 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees
of Indebtedness of Others.” This interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor
in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees that it
has issued. It also clarifies (for guarantees issued after January 1, 2003) that a guarantor is required to
recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligations undertaken in
issuing the guarantee. At December 31, 2002, the Company does not have any significant guarantees or
required disclosures under FASB Interpretation No. 45.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” This interpretation addresses the requirements for business
enterprises to consolidate related entities in which they are determined to be the primary beneficiary as a
result of their variable economic interests. The interpretation is intended to provide guidance in judging
multiple economic interests in an entity and in determining the primary beneficiary. The interpretation
outlines disclosure requirements for Variable Interest Entities in existence prior to January 31, 2003, and
outlines consolidation requirements for Variable Interest Entities created after January 31, 2003.

The Company has reviewed its major commercial relationships and its overall economic interests
with other companies consisting of related parties, contracted manufacturing vendors, companies in
which it has an equity position, and other suppliers to determine the extent of its variable economic
interest in these parties. The review has not resulted in a determination that the Company would
be judged to be the primary economic beneficiary in any material relationships, or that any material
entities would be judged to be Variable Interest Entities of the Company. The Company believes it has
appropriately reported the economic impact and its share of risks of its commercial relationships through
its equity accounting.

NOTE 4–ADOPTION OF SFAS NO.  142,  
“GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS”

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted the reporting requirements of SFAS No. 141,
“Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and, as required,
has applied its requirements to acquisitions made after June 30, 2001. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill 
and indefinite-lived intangible assets are no longer amortized but are reviewed at least annually for
impairment. Contractual or separable intangible assets that have finite useful lives will continue to be
amortized over their useful lives.

SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill be tested for impairment at the reporting unit level at 
adoption and at least annually thereafter, utilizing a two-step methodology. The initial step requires 
the Company to determine the fair value of each reporting unit and compare it to the carrying value,
including goodwill, of such unit. If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, no impairment loss would be
recognized. However, if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the goodwill of this
unit may be impaired. The amount of the impairment, if any, would then be measured in the second step.

In connection with adopting this standard as of January 1, 2002, during the first quarter, and as 
of September 30, 2002, during the fourth quarter, the Company completed step one of the test for 
impairment, which indicated that the carrying value of each reporting unit was less than their estimated
fair values, as determined utilizing various evaluation techniques including discounted cash flow and 
comparative market analysis. Accordingly, step two was not required. The Company also reassessed the
useful lives and the classifications of identifiable intangible assets and determined that they continue to
be appropriate.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill attributable to each reportable operating segment 
follows:

Flexible Packaging Pressure Sensitive
(in thousands) Segment Materials Segment Total

Reported balance at
December 31, 2001 $293,898 $39,377 $333,275

Intangible assets reclassified into
goodwill at January 1, 2002 21,220 11,331 32,551

Goodwill acquired during 2002 87,086 87,086

Currency translation and
other adjustments (4,903) (4,903)

Reported goodwill balance 
at December 31, 2002 $397,301 $50,708 $448,009

The preliminary allocation of the purchase price for 2002 acquisitions discussed in Note 5 includes
the initial valuation of identifiable intangible assets and goodwill. Valuation consultants are currently 
conducting their reviews to assist management in defining and valuing assets acquired, including intangi-
ble assets. The valuation is expected to be completed during the first half of 2003 and appropriate 
adjustment to goodwill and intangible assets will be made to reflect that final valuation.
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The components of intangible assets subject to amortization follow:

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001

Intangible Asset Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
(in thousands) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Intangible assets 
reclassified into 
goodwill $36,321 $(3,770)

Contract based $15,323 $(3,233) 15,151 (2,048)
Technology based 52,034 (5,285) 42,471 (2,850)
Marketing related 9,075 (292)
Customer based 9,367 (813) 1,000 (450)

Reported balance $85,799 $(9,623) $94,943 $(9,118)

Amortization expense for intangible assets during 2002 was $5.1 million. Estimated amortization
expense for 2003, 2004, and 2005 is $6.1 million each year, for 2006 is $6.0 million, and for 2007 is
$5.9 million.

Actual year-to-date results of operations for the period ended December 31, 2002, and pro forma
results of operations for the same comparative periods ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, had we
applied the nonamortization provisions of SFAS No. 142 in that period follow:

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 2000

Reported net income $165,515 $140,325 $130,602
Add back amortization, net of tax, for:

Goodwill 7,940 5,868
Intangible assets reclassified

into goodwill 1,474 233
Adjusted net income $165,515 $149,739 $136,703

Basic earnings per share:
Reported net income $ 3.13 $ 2.66 $ 2.46
Goodwill amortization 0.15 0.11
Intangible assets reclassified

into goodwill 0.03
Adjusted net income $ 3.13 $ 2.84 $ 2.57

Diluted earnings per share:
Reported net income $ 3.08 $ 2.64 $ 2.44
Goodwill amortization 0.15 0.11
Intangible assets reclassified

into goodwill 0.03
Adjusted net income $ 3.08 $ 2.82 $ 2.55

NOTE 5–BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS
Effective on October 1, 2002, the Company purchased the Walki Films business of UPM-

Kymmene for a cash price of $68.5 million which is subject to a working capital adjustment. The
acquired business, which recorded annual sales in 2001 of approximately $120.0 million (unaudited),
becomes the largest component of Bemis’ European packaging operations and specializes in high 
barrier vacuum and modified atmosphere packaging used primarily for packaging meat, cheese, and
other fresh foods. The acquisition included manufacturing plants in Valkeakoski, Finland, and
Epernon, France. The total cash purchase price has been accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting reflecting the provisions of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 and includes the preliminary
allocations as follows: $76.8 million to tangible assets; $7.9 million to intangible assets; $23.2 million to
liabilities assumed; $5.1 million to tax deductible goodwill, and $1.9 million to non-deductible goodwill.
Intangible assets acquired have a weighted-average useful life of approximately 10 years and include $0.2
million for contract based intangibles with a useful life of 1 year, $3.7 million for marketing related
intangibles with a useful life of 10 years, and $4.0 million for customer based intangibles with a useful
life of 10 years. The third-party valuation of certain tangible and intangible assets relating to the
acquisition is not final; thus the purchase price allocation is subject to further refinement. Results of
operations subsequent to September 30, 2002, are included in these financial statements.

On July 31, 2002, the Company acquired the global Clysar® shrink film business of E.I. du Pont 
de Nemours and Company. This business, now known as Bemis Clysar, Inc., is a global supplier of 
premium polyolefin shrink film used primarily in total over-wrap applications for the display, protective
packaging, and food markets. Operating from plants in Clinton, Iowa, and Le Trait, France, this business
is part of the high barrier product line of our flexible packaging segment and had annual sales in 2001 of
approximately $100.0 million (unaudited). The cash purchase price of $142.0 million, subject to a
working capital adjustment, is accounted for under the purchase method of accounting reflecting the 
provision of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142. The preliminary purchase price allocation included $52.0
million to tangible assets, $18.7 million to intangible assets, $8.8 million to liabilities assumed, $78.0 
million to tax deductible goodwill, and $2.1 million to non-deductible goodwill. Intangible assets acquired
have a weighted-average useful life of approximately 12.8 years and include $9.6 million for technology
based intangibles with a useful life of 17.4 years, $5.0 million for marketing related intangibles with a 
useful life of 10 years, and $4.1 million for customer based intangibles with a useful life of 10 years. Results
of operations subsequent to July 30, 2002, are included in these financial statements.

On September 7, 2001, the Company purchased all of the outstanding stock of Duralam, Inc.,
which had annual sales of approximately $55.0 million (unaudited), for a cash purchase price of $68.4 
million. Duralam manufactures films for packaging meat, cheese, candy, and other food products at 
facilities in Appleton and Neenah, Wisconsin. The total cash purchase price has been accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting reflecting the provision of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 regard-
ing such acquisitions initiated after June 30, 2001. The final purchase price allocation included $30.2 
million to tangible assets, $9.5 million to liabilities assumed, $15.8 million to tax deductible goodwill,
and $31.9 million to non-deductible goodwill. Results of operations subsequent to September 7, 2001,
are included in these financial statements.

On September 8, 2000, the Company purchased the pressure sensitive materials product line of
Kanzaki Specialty Papers, Inc. which had approximately $78.0 million (unaudited) in sales in 1999. This
business supplies direct thermal pressure sensitive products to printers for labels used for bar coding,
shipping and inventory labeling, and a variety of other end uses. Assets acquired with this business include
a long-term supply agreement to purchase Kanzaki’s high quality face paper to which adhesive will be
applied using already available state-of-the-art equipment. No equipment or facilities were acquired with
this business. The total cash purchase price of $45.2 million has been accounted for under the purchase
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method of accounting with $28.7 million allocated to intangible assets and $16.5 million allocated to 
tax deductible goodwill. Results of operations subsequent to September 7, 2000, are included in these
financial statements.

On August 31, 2000, the Company purchased the specialty plastic films business of Viskase
Companies, Inc., which supplies a variety of shrinkable barrier bags, films, and cook-in bags to beef, pork,
poultry, and cheese processors. It had net sales of approximately $150.0 million (unaudited) in 1999. This
acquisition brought technologies that both complement and extend the technologies employed in the
Company’s flexible packaging business. Included in the acquisition are manufacturing facilities in
Centerville, Iowa; Pauls Valley, Oklahoma; Swansea, Wales; and São Paulo, Brazil. The total cash 
purchase price of $226.2 million has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and
includes the following allocations: $76.2 million to tangible assets; $65.0 million to intangible assets; $27.3
million to liabilities assumed; and $112.3 million to tax deductible goodwill. Results of operations 
subsequent to August 30, 2000, are included in these financial statements.

Effective August 1, 2000, the Company purchased the assets of the flexible packaging business of
Arrow Industries, which had net sales of approximately $33.0 million (unaudited) during the preceding
twelve months. Equipment acquired with this business has been strategically deployed into existing
facilities to provide additional capacity. The total cash purchase price of $18.8 million has been
accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and includes the following allocations: $12.0
million to tangible assets; $0.3 million to liabilities assumed; and $7.1 million to tax deductible goodwill.
Results of operations subsequent to July 31, 2000, are included in these financial statements.

On January 6, 2000, the Company purchased the remaining 13 percent minority interest in Morgan
Adhesives Company (MACtac). The Company issued 1,730,952 shares of its common stock, valued at
$54.8 million, and paid $3.4 million in cash. Non-deductible goodwill totaling $19.8 million related to
this transaction was also recorded. Upon the acquisition of these minority shares, MACtac became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Bemis Company, Inc.

Supplemental pro forma results of operations giving effect to the acquisitions are not 
presented because they are not material.

NOTE 6–INVENTORIES
The Company’s inventories are valued at the lower of cost, determined by the first-in, first-out

(FIFO) method, or market. Inventories are summarized at December 31, as follows:

(in thousands) 2002 2001

Raw materials and supplies $ 101,003 $ 82,210
Work in process and finished goods 220,841 192,039
Total inventories, gross 321,844 274,249
Less inventory reserves (13,500) (14,494)
Total inventories, net $ 308,344 $ 259,755

NOTE 7–PENSION PLANS
Defined contribution plans cover employees at eight different manufacturing or administrative 

locations with contributions based on one of two different methods. One method provides for 
contributions ranging from 2 percent to 6 percent of covered employees’ salaries or wages, whereas the other
method provides for contributions each pay period based upon a combination of the employee’s job level and
years of experience. These costs totaled $971,000 in 2002, $1,317,000 in 2001, and $1,547,000 in 2000.
Multiemployer plans cover employees at three different manufacturing locations and provide for
contributions to a union administered defined benefit pension plan. Amounts charged to pension cost
and  contributed to the multiemployer plans in 2002, 2001, and 2000 totaled $732,000, $667,000, and
$771,000, respectively.

The Company has defined benefit pension plans covering the majority of U.S. employees. The 
benefits under the plans are based on years of service and salary levels. Certain plans covering hourly
employees provide benefits of stated amounts for each year of service. In addition, the Company also
sponsors an unfunded supplemental retirement plan to provide senior management with benefits in excess
of limits under the federal tax law and increased benefits to reflect a service adjustment factor. Net 
periodic pension cost for defined benefit plans included the following components for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000.

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Service cost–benefits earned during the year $ 12,129 $ 11,447 $ 9,271
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 24,884 23,557 20,915
Expected return on plan assets (41,996) (43,247) (38,223)
Amortization of unrecognized

transition obligation 987 1,118 992
Amortization of prior service cost 1,431 1,532 1,248
Recognized net (gain) or loss (2,309) (6,927) (5,750)

Net periodic pension (income) cost $ (4,874) $ (12,520) $ (11,547)

Changes in benefit obligations and plan assets, and a reconciliation of the funded status at December
31, 2002 and 2001, are as follows:

(in thousands) 2002 2001

Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $ 369,916 $ 343,109

Service cost 12,129 11,447 
Interest cost 24,884 23,557
Plan participants’ contributions 321 324
Plan amendments 3,344 1,662
Actuarial (gain) or loss 3,786 4,958
Acquisition 6,132
Benefits paid (19,330) (20,252)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 1,370 (1,021) 

Benefit obligation at the end of the year $ 396,420 $ 369,916

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year $ 358,953 $ 427,672

Actual return on plan assets (55,854) (53,922)
Acquisition 3,736
Employer contributions 1,804 2,301
Plan participants’ contributions 321 324
Benefits paid (19,330) (20,252)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 1,284 (906)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $ 287,178 $ 358,953
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(in thousands) 2002 2001

Reconciliation of Funded Status
Funded status $ (109,243) $ (10,964)
Unrecognized net (gain) or loss 117,425 12,622
Unrecognized transition (asset) or obligation 2,499 3,372
Unrecognized prior service cost 15,510 14,580

Prepaid pension asset $ 26,191 $ 19,610

The Company has recorded the following amounts pursuant to SFAS No. 87, “Employers’
Accounting for Pensions,” to reflect the minimum pension obligation at December 31:

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 

Intangible asset $ 17,038 $ 19,066
Deferred tax 30,493 1,180 $ 1,072
Pension liability (97,285) (22,147) (2,803)

Reduction in stockholders’ equity $ (49,754) $ (1,901) $ (1,731)

Presented below are the projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value
of plan assets for only those pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets as
of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. In 2002, two large pension plans became underfunded as a result
of losses in plan assets experienced during the past three years.

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000 

Projected benefit obligation $372,856 $ 20,288 $ 17,997
Accumulated benefit obligation $337,720 $ 14,465 $ 14,213
Fair value of assets $265,740 $ 2,637 $ 1,835

The weighted-average discount rate and rate of increase in future compensation levels used in 
determining the actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligation is presented below.

December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Weighted-average discount rate 6.75% 7.00% 7.00%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels 5.00% 5.50% 5.50%

The expected long-term rate of return on assets was 10 percent for 2002, 2001 and 2000. Effective
January 1, 2003, the expected long-term rate of return on assets was reduced to 9.5 percent.

Total pension income in 2002, 2001, and 2000 was $3,171,000, $10,536,000, and $9,229,000,
respectively.

NOTE 8–POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS 
OTHER THAN PENSIONS

The Company sponsors several defined benefit postretirement plans that cover a majority of
salaried and a portion of nonunion hourly employees. These plans provide health care benefits and, in
some instances, provide life insurance benefits. Except for one closed-group plan, which is noncontribu-
tory, postretirement health care plans are contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted annually; life
insurance plans are noncontributory.

Net periodic postretirement benefit costs included the following components for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000.

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Service cost–benefits earned during the year $ 318 $ 291 $ 292
Interest cost on accumulated 
postretirement benefit obligation 1,060 1,012 924
Amortization of prior service cost 48 48 48
Recognized net (gain) or loss (31) (60)

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 1,426 $ 1,320 $ 1,204

Changes in benefit obligation and plan assets, and a reconciliation of the funded status at December
31, 2002 and 2001, are as follows:

(in thousands) 2002 2001 

Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $ 15,738 $ 15,038

Service cost 318 291
Interest cost 1,060 1,012
Plan amendments 232
Actuarial (gain) or loss 540 312 
Benefits paid (930) (915)

Benefit obligation at the end of the year $ 16,958 $ 15,738

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year $ 0 $ 0

Employer contribution 930 915
Benefits paid (930) (915)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $ 0 $ 0

Reconciliation of Funded Status
Funded status $ (16,958) $ (15,738)
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain) or loss (1,015) (1,555)
Unrecognized prior service cost 575 391

Accrued postretirement benefit liability $ (17,398) $ (16,902)
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The health care cost trend rate assumption has a significant effect on the amounts reported. A
one-percentage point change in assumed health care trends would have the following effects:

One Percentage One Percentage
(in thousands) Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total of service and 
interest cost components $ 145 $ (125)

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $ 1,438 $ (1,264)

For measurement purposes, a 9.0 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered
health care benefits was assumed for 2002; the rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.5 percent by the
year 2006 and remain at that level thereafter.The weighted-average discount rate used in determining the
accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 6.75 percent in 2002 and 7.0 percent in 2001.

NOTE 9–STOCK OPTION AND INCENTIVE PLANS
Since 1987, the Company’s stock option and stock award plans have provided for the issuance of up

to 6,900,000 shares of common stock to key employees. As of December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000,
respectively, 1,798,459, 1,921,364, and 199,535 shares were available for future grants under these plans.

Options are granted at prices equal to fair market value on the date of the grant and are exercisable,
upon vesting, over varying periods up to ten years from the date of grant. Options for Directors vest
immediately while options for Company employees vest over three years (one-third per year). Shares
subject to options granted but not exercised become available for future grants.

Details of the stock option plans at December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, are:

Per Share Weighted-
Number of Option Price Average Price

Shares Range Per Share

Outstanding at December 31, 1999 1,208,473 $14.94 - $45.03 $27.09

Granted in 2000 412,349 31.72 - 37.63 35.46
Exercised in 2000 (380,000) 14.94 14.94

Outstanding at December 31, 2000 1,240,822 $18.72 - $45.03 $33.59
Exercisable at December 31, 2000 1,005,968 $18.72 - $45.03 $32.85

Granted in 2001 142,052 33.56 - 44.07 34.96
Exercised in 2001 (134,363) 18.72 - 32.31 24.38

Outstanding at December 31, 2001 1,248,511 $20.38 - $45.03 $34.74 
Exercisable at December 31, 2001 942,705 $20.38 - $45.03 $34.44

Granted in 2002 73,443 47.71 - 53.90 49.18
Exercised in 2002 (27,326) 22.06 - 24.63 23.91

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 1,294,628 $20.38 - $53.90 $35.79
Exercisable at December 31, 2002 1,035,909 $20.38 - $45.03 $34.88

The following table summarizes information about outstanding stock options at December 31,
2002.

Options Outstanding

Number Weighted-Average
Range of Outstanding Remaining Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices at 12/31/02 Contractual Life Exercise Price

$20.38 - 24.63 133,753 1.5 years $23.49
$31.72 - 38.42 932,432 6.0 years $34.96
$44.07 - 53.90 228,443 6.2 years $46.34
$20.38 - 53.90 1,294,628 5.6 years $35.79

Options Exercisable  

Range of Number Exercisable Weighted-Average
Exercise Prices at 12/31/02 Exercise Price

$20.38 - 24.63 133,753 $23.49
$31.72 - 38.42 747,156 $34.83
$44.07 - 53.90 155,000 $45.00
$20.38 - 53.90 1,035,909 $34.88

The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted during 2002, 2001, and 2000 used in 
computing pro forma compensation expense was $20.08, $12.92, and $11.82 per share, respectively.The fair
value was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the following weighted-average
assumptions for 2002, 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000

Dividend yield 2.1% 2.9% 2.7%
Expected volatility 29.0% 29.5% 28.3%

Risk-free interest rate 6.75% 7.0% 7.0%
Expected lives (in years) 10.0 10.0 8.0

In 1994 and in 2001, the Company adopted a Stock Incentive Plan for certain key executive
employees. The 1994 and 2001 Plans provide for the issuance of up to 2,000,000 and 2,500,000 grants,
respectively. Each Plan expires 10 years after its inception, at which point no further stock options or 
performance units may be granted. Since 1994, 1,966,455 and 735,086 grants of either stock options or
performance units (commonly referred to as restricted stock) have been made under the 1994 and 2001
plans, respectively. Distribution of the performance units is normally made in the form of shares of the
Company’s common stock on a one for one basis. Distribution of the shares will normally be made not
less than three years nor more than six years from the date of the performance unit grant. All performance
units granted under the plan are subject to restrictions as to continuous employment, except in the case of
death, permanent disability, or retirement. In addition, cash payments are made during the grant period
on outstanding performance units equal to the dividend on Bemis common stock. The cost of the awards
is charged to income over the vesting period: $15,210,000 was expensed in 2002, $11,332,000 in 2001,
and $6,339,000 in 2000.
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Details of the stock award plan at December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, are:

Number of Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 1999 1,094,796
Granted 244,492
Paid (14,000)
Canceled (145,182)

Outstanding at December 31, 2000 1,180,106
Granted 676,869
Paid (320,170)
Canceled (40,750)

Outstanding at December 31, 2001 1,496,055
Granted 97,824
Paid (99,681)
Canceled (48,362)

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 1,445,836

NOTE 10–LEASES
All noncancelable leases have been categorized as capital or operating leases. The Company has 

leases for manufacturing plants, warehouses, machinery and equipment, and administrative offices 
with terms (including renewal options) ranging from one to 42 years. Under most leasing arrangements,
the Company pays the property taxes, insurance, maintenance, and other expenses related to the leased
property. Total rental expense under operating leases was $13,330,000 in 2002, $12,476,000 in 2001, and
$9,296,000 in 2000.

The present values of minimum future obligations shown in the following chart are calculated based
on interest rates ranging from 11 to 12.5 percent determined to be applicable at the inception of the lease.
Interest expense on the outstanding obligations under capital leases was $8,000 in 2002, $1,000 in 2001,
and $0 in 2000.

Minimum future obligations on leases in effect at December 31, 2002, are:

Capital Operating
(in thousands) Leases Leases

2003 $ 380 $ 7,705
2004 370 4,664
2005 179 3,021
2006 184 2,203
2007 190 1,729
Thereafter 0 6,347

Total minimum obligations 1,303 $ 25,669

Less amount representing interest 188

Present value of net minimum obligations 1,115

Less current portion 241

Long-term obligations $ 874

NOTE 11–LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt maturing in years 2003 through 2007 is $3,516,000, $1,584,000, $107,198,000,

$318,500,000, and $196,000, respectively.
Under the terms of a revolving credit agreement with five banks, the Company may borrow up to

$334.0 million through August 1, 2006. The Company currently pays a facility fee of .12 percent annu-
ally on the entire amount of the commitment. In addition to the revolving long-term credit agreement,
the Company has a 364-day credit agreement with seven banks under which it may borrow up to $250.0
million. This 364-day credit agreement was renewed in January 2003, with six banks under which the
Company may borrow up to $215.0 million. The Company pays a facility fee of .10 percent annually on
the entire amount of the commitment. There were no borrowings outstanding under these agreements at
December 31, 2002. These credit facilities are used primarily to support the Company’s issuance of 
commercial paper.

During the third quarter 2001, to obtain greater exposure to short-term variable interest rates, the
Company entered into long-term interest rate swap agreements for a total notional amount of $350.0 
million with three major U.S. banks. These interest rate swap agreements have been designated as hedges
of changes in the fair value of the Company’s $350.0 million fixed rate long-term debt obligations ($100.0
million, 6.7 percent notes due July 1, 2005, and $250.0 million, 6.5 percent notes due August 15, 2008).
Counterparties to these agreements are major U.S. banks who also participate in the Company’s bank
credit facilities. Credit loss from counterparty nonperformance is not anticipated.

Under these interest rate swap agreements the Company will receive a fixed rate of interest and pay
a variable rate of interest over the term without the exchange of the underlying notional amounts. The
fixed rate of interest, which the Company will receive, is equal to the interest rate of the Company’s long-
term debt which is being hedged. The variable rate of interest which the Company will pay is based on
the six-months London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), set in arrears, plus a fixed spread which is
unique to each agreement. The variable rates are reset semiannually at each net settlement date. The net
settlement benefit to the Company, recorded as a reduction in interest expense, was $13.7 million for 2002
and $4.0 million for 2001.

The terms of the interest rate swap agreements have been specifically designed to conform with the
applicable terms of the hedged items and with the requirements of paragraph 68 of SFAS No. 133 to 
support the assumption of no ineffectiveness (changes in fair value of the debt and the swaps exactly 
offset) and to simplify the computations necessary to make the accounting entries. At December 31, 2002,
the fair value of these interest rate swaps was $31.8 million in the Company’s favor, as determined by the
respective bank using discounted cash flow or other appropriate methodologies, and is included with
deferred charges and other assets with a corresponding increase in long-term debt.
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Debt consisted of the following at December 31,

(dollars in thousands) 2002 2001

Commercial paper payable through
2003 at an interest rate of 1.4% (1) $ 321,020 $ 229,100

Notes payable in 2008 at an
interest rate of 6.5% 250,000 250,000

Notes payable in 2005 at an
interest rate of 6.7% 100,000 100,000

Interest rate swap agreement 31,788 (1,290)
Industrial revenue bonds payable through

2015 at interest rates of 1.7% to 1.8% (2) 15,500 15,500
Debt of subsidiary companies payable through

2005 at interest rates of 3.01% to 6.68% 2,370 5,469
Obligations under capital leases 1,115 42

Total debt 721,793 598,821
Less current portion 3,516 3,572
Total long-term debt $ 718,277 $ 595,249

(1)The commercial paper has been classified as long-term debt, to the extent of available long-term
backup credit agreements, in accordance with the Company’s ability to refinance such obligations on
a long-term basis. The interest rate of commercial paper outstanding at December 31, 2002, was 1.4
percent. The maximum outstanding during 2002 was $369,600,000, and the average outstanding
during 2002 was $244,084,000. The weighted-average interest rate during 2002 was 1.7 percent.

(2)Two industrial revenue bonds for which the variable interest rate is determined weekly by a
“Remarketing Agent” based on similar debt then available. The weighted-average interest rate at
December 31, 2002 was 1.7 percent.The weighted-average interest rate during 2002 was 1.6 percent.

NOTE 12–INCOME TAXES
(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

U.S. income before income taxes $230,205 $196,324 $180,298
Non-U.S. income before income taxes 36,810 31,101 31,204

Income before income taxes $267,015 $227,425 $211,502

Income tax expense consists of the 
following components:

Current tax expense:
U.S. federal $ 60,176 $ 54,861 $ 44,294
Foreign 10,852 7,864 11,354
State and local 11,081 10,272 8,716
Total current tax expense 82,109 72,997 64,364

Deferred tax expense:
U.S. federal 15,329 11,545 13,876
Foreign 1,346 (53) 150
State 2,716 2,611 2,510
Total deferred tax expense 19,391 14,103 16,536

Total income tax expense $101,500 $ 87,100 $ 80,900

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented below.

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Deferred Tax Assets:
Accounts receivable, principally due to

allowances for returns and doubtful accounts $ 4,752 $ 4,798 $ 4,742 
Inventories, principally due to additional

costs inventoried for tax purposes 3,760 4,470 3,291
Employee compensation and benefits

accrued for financial reporting purposes 11,532 12,507 13,892
Other 2,314 3,843 4,099

Total deferred tax assets (included in prepaid 
expenses and deferred charges) $ 22,358 $ 25,618 $ 26,024 

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Plant and equipment, principally due to 

differences in depreciation, capitalized 
interest, and capitalized overhead $ 146,125 $ 132,479 $ 112,282

Noncurrent employee compensation 
and benefits accrued for financial 
reporting purposes (40,144) (12,269) (11,413)

Other 69 1,769 2,752

Total deferred tax liabilities $ 106,050 $ 121,979 $ 103,621
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The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate due to the following items:

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000

% of Income % of Income % of Income
Amount Before Tax Amount Before Tax Amount Before Tax

Computed “expected” tax expense on income before taxes 
at statutory rate $ 93,455 35.0% $79,599 35.0% $ 74,026 35.0% 

Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:
State and local income taxes net of federal income tax benefit 8,968 3.4 8,374 3.7 7,297 3.5 
Foreign tax rate differential (1,703) (0.6) (2,955) (1.3) 144 0.1
Minority interest 314 0.1 194 0.1 174 0.1 
Other 466 0.1 1,888 0.8 (741) (0.4)

Actual income tax expense $101,500 38.0% $87,100 38.3% $ 80,900 38.3%

The Company’s federal income tax returns for the years prior to 1999 have been audited and 
completely settled. Provision has not been made for U.S. or additional foreign taxes on $190,272,000 of
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries because those earnings are considered to be indefinitely 
reinvested in the operations of those subsidiaries. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of tax that
might be payable on the eventual remittance of such earnings.

NOTE 13–SEGMENTS OF BUSINESS
The Company’s business activities are organized around its two principal business segments,

Flexible Packaging and Pressure Sensitive Materials. Both internal and external reporting conform to this
organizational structure with no significant differences in accounting policies applied. Minor inter-
segment sales are generally priced to reflect nominal markups. The Company evaluates the performance
of its segments and allocates resources to them based on operating profit which is defined as profit before
general corporate expense, interest expense, income taxes, and minority interest. While there are similar-
ities in selected technology and manufacturing processes utilized between operating segments, notable
differences exist in products, application and distribution of products, and customer base.

Products produced within the Flexible Packaging business segment include high barrier, polyethylene,
and paper products for food, medical devices, personal care, agribusiness, chemicals, pet food, and tissue.
Products produced within the Pressure Sensitive Materials business segment include film, paper, and 
metalized plastic film printing stocks used for primary package labeling, promotional decoration, bar code
inventory control labels, and laser printing for administrative office and promotional applications. This
segment also includes micro-thin film adhesives used in delicate electronic parts assembly and graphic
films for decorative signage.

A summary of the Company’s business activities reported by its two business segments follows:

BUSINESS SEGMENTS (in millions) 2002 2001 2000

Net Sales to Unaffiliated Customers:
Flexible Packaging $ 1,871.3 $ 1,802.3 $ 1,660.2
Pressure Sensitive Materials 499.1 491.2 506.0

Intersegment Sales:
Flexible Packaging (1.2) (0.4) (1.6)
Pressure Sensitive Materials (0.2)

Total $ 2,369.0 $ 2,293.1 $ 2,164.6

Operating Profit and Pretax Profit:
Flexible Packaging $ 289.1 $ 273.2 $ 221.3 
Pressure Sensitive Materials 27.3 12.1 40.1

Total operating profit (1) 316.4 285.3 261.4 
General corporate expenses (33.0) (27.0) (17.8)
Interest expense (15.5) (30.3) (31.6)
Minority interest in net income (0.9) (0.6) (0.5)

Income before income taxes $ 267.0 $ 227.4 $ 211.5 
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(in millions) 2002 2001 2000

Identifiable Assets:
Flexible Packaging $ 1,770.0 $ 1,486.7 $ 1,481.3 
Pressure Sensitive Materials 358.2 347.6 352.4

Total identifiable assets (2) 2,128.2 1,834.3 1,833.7
Corporate assets (3) 128.5 88.7 54.9

Total $ 2,256.7 $ 1,923.0 $ 1,888.6

Depreciation and Amortization:
Flexible Packaging $ 100.4 $ 102.0 $ 86.6
Pressure Sensitive Materials 17.0 20.2 19.9
Corporate 1.8 1.9 1.6

Total $ 119.2 $ 124.1 $ 108.1

Expenditures for Property 
and Equipment:

Flexible Packaging $ 85.0 $ 106.4 $ 86.5
Pressure Sensitive Materials 4.9 9.7 13.1
Corporate 1.1 1.4 0.8

Total $ 91.0 $ 117.5 $ 100.4

OPERATIONS BY GEOGRAPHIC AREAS
(in millions) 2002 2001 2000 

Net Sales to Unaffiliated Customers: (4)
United States $ 1,930.6 $ 1,920.8 $ 1,821.5
Canada 86.3 85.9 77.6
Europe 298.9 239.4 229.3
Other 53.2 47.0 36.2

Total $ 2,369.0 $ 2,293.1 $ 2,164.6 

Identifiable Assets:
United States $ 1,713.6 $ 1,532.2 $ 1,542.2
Canada 33.0 33.4 34.8
Europe 329.1 210.4 195.9
Other 52.5 58.3 60.8

Total $ 2,128.2 $ 1,834.3 $ 1,833.7 

(1) Operating profit is defined as profit before general corporate expense, interest expense, income
taxes, and minority interest.

(2) Identifiable assets by business segment include only those assets that are specifically identified
with each segment’s operations.

(3) Corporate assets are principally cash and short-term investments, prepaid expenses, and 
corporate property.

(4) Net sales are attributed to countries based on location of the Company’s manufacturing or 
selling operation.

NOTE 14–COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company is a defendant in lawsuits incidental to its business. The management of the

Company believes, however, that the disposition of these lawsuits will not have any material impact
on the financial position or operating results of the Company.

During 2000, the Company settled a lawsuit brought by the United States Environmental
Protection Agency in Federal District Court for the District of Connecticut in relation to the disposal of
liquid industrial wastes at the Yaworski Lagoon site in Canterbury, Connecticut. The settlement involved
the Company’s payment of $3,160,000 in 2000 which was fully provided for in prior years.

NOTE 15–FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company enters into forward foreign currency exchange contracts to manage foreign currency

exchange rate exposures associated with certain foreign currency denominated receivables and payables.
At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had outstanding forward foreign currency exchange 
contracts aggregating $5,028,000 and $3,166,000, respectively. Forward foreign currency exchange 
contracts generally have maturities of less than nine months and relate primarily to major Western
European currencies. Counterparties to the forward foreign currency exchange contracts are major 
financial institutions. Credit loss from counterparty nonperformance is not anticipated. The Company
has not designated these derivative instruments as hedging instruments. The $7,600 net settlement
expense (fair value) related to active forward foreign currency exchange contracts is recorded on the 
balance sheet and as an expense element of other costs (income), net.

During the third quarter 2001, to obtain greater exposure to short-term floating interest rates 
the Company entered into long-term interest rate swap agreements for a total notional amount of
$350.0 million with three major U.S. banks. These interest rate swap agreements have been designated
as hedges of changes in the fair value of the Company’s existing $350.0 million fixed rate long-term
debt obligations ($100.0 million, 6.7 percent note due July 1, 2005, and $250.0 million, 6.5 percent note
due August 15, 2008). Counterparties to these agreements are major financial institutions who also
participate in the Company’s bank credit facilities. Credit loss from counterparty nonperformance is
not anticipated.

Under these interest rate swap agreements the Company will receive a fixed rate of interest and pay
a variable rate of interest over the term without the exchange of the underlying notional amounts.
The fixed rate of interest, which the Company will receive, is equal to the interest rate of the Company’s 
long-term debt which is being hedged. The variable rate of interest which the Company will pay is based
on the six-months London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), set in arrears, plus a fixed spread which is
unique to each agreement. The variable rates are reset semiannually at each net settlement date. The net
settlement benefit to the Company, recorded as a reduction in interest expense, was $13.7 million for 2002
and $4.0 million for 2001. This position for the Company would become less favorable as short-term
interest rates increase.

The terms of the interest rate swap agreements have been specifically designed to conform with the
applicable terms of the hedged items and with the requirements of paragraph 68 of SFAS No. 133 to 
support the assumption of no ineffectiveness (changes in fair value of the debt and the swaps exactly 
offset) and to simplify the computations necessary to make the accounting entries. At December 31,
2002, the fair value of these interest rate swaps was $31.8 million in the Company’s favor, as determined
by the respective bank using discounted cash flow or other appropriate methodologies, and is included
with deferred charges and other assets with a corresponding increase in long-term debt.
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At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the carrying value approximates the fair value of financial
instruments such as cash, trade receivables and payables, and short-term debt because of the short-term
maturities of these instruments. The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt, including current
maturities but excluding capitalized leases, is estimated to be $720,919,000 and $599,097,000 at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, using discounted cash flow analyses, based on the incremental
borrowing rates currently available to the Company for similar debt with similar terms and maturity.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable are limited due to the large
number of entities comprising the Company’s customer base and their dispersion across many different
industries and countries. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had no significant concen-
trations of credit risk.
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Certain options outstanding at December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, (1,247, 0, and 990,812 shares,
respectively) were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because they would not
have had a dilutive effect.

The summation of quarterly net income per share may not equate to the calculation for the full year as
quarterly calculations are performed on a discrete basis.

NOTE 16–EARNINGS PER SHARE COMPUTATIONS

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2002 2001 2000

Income Shares Per Share Income Shares Per Share Income Shares Per Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount

Basic EPS
Income available to 
common stockholders $165,515 52,936 $3.13 $140,325 52,816 $2.66 $130,602 53,178 $2.46

Dilutive effects of stock option
and stock award plans 810 306 375

Diluted EPS Income available
to common stockholders $165,515 53,746 $3.08 $140,325 53,122 $2.64 $130,602 53,553 $2.44

NOTE 17–QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION–UNAUDITED
(dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Basic Earnings Diluted Earnings
Net Sales Gross Profit Net Income Per Share Per Share

% % % % %
Quarter 2002 2001 Change 2002 2001 Change 2002 2001 Change 2002 2001 Change 2002 2001 Change

First $ 552.7 $ 577.4 (4%) $120.2 $117.2 3% $ 34.9 $ 29.7 18% $ .66 $ .56 18% $ .65 $ .56 16%
Second 584.8 581.6 1 140.0 122.3 14 44.0 35.5 24 .83 .67 24 .82 .67 22
Third 601.0 575.6 4 132.3 117.6 13 43.3 36.1 20 .82 .68 21 .81 .68 19
Fourth 630.5 558.5 13 136.4 120.6 13 43.3 39.0 11 .82 .74 11 .80 .73 10
Total $ 2,369.0 $2,293.1 3% $528.9 $477.7 11% $165.5 $ 140.3 18% $3.13 $ 2.66 18% $ 3.08 $2.64 17%



operations
GLOBAL  COMPANY

Flexible Packaging
HIGH BARRIER PRODUCTS
Curwood

Oshkosh,Wisconsin
New London, Wisconsin
Murphysboro, Illinois
Fremont, Ohio
Appleton, Wisconsin
Neenah, Wisconsin
Centerville, Iowa
Pauls Valley, Oklahoma
Georgetown, Ontario, Canada
São Paulo, Brazil
Swansea, Wales*

Milprint
Oshkosh, Wisconsin
Denmark, Wisconsin
Lancaster, Wisconsin
New London, Wisconsin
Lebanon, Pennsylvania

Banner Packaging
Oshkosh, Wisconsin

Perfecseal
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Oshkosh, Wisconsin
New London, Wisconsin
Mankato, Minnesota
Carolina, Puerto Rico
Selangor, Malaysia 
Londonderry, Northern Ireland*
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*Operates as a part of Bemis Europe–Flexible Packaging.

Bemis Clysar
Clinton, Iowa
Le Trait, France*

MacKay
Florence, Kentucky
Omaha, Nebraska
New London, Wisconsin
Murfreesboro, Tennessee
Centerville, Iowa
Terre Haute, Indiana

Bemis Europe–Flexible Packaging
Monceau, Belgium
Valkeakoski, Finland
Epernon, France

ITAP/Bemis Ltda. (affiliate)
Londrina, Brazil

POLYETHYLENE PRODUCTS
Polyethylene Packaging

Terre Haute, Indiana
Hazleton, Pennsylvania
Flemington, New Jersey
Union City, California
Prattville, Alabama

Bemis Custom Products
Oshkosh, Wisconsin
Longview, Texas
ShelbyvilIe, Tennessee
Brigg, North Lincolnshire, England*

PAPER PRODUCTS
Paper Packaging

Crossett, Arkansas
Peoria, Illinois
Omaha, Nebraska
Vancouver, Washington
San Luis Potosi, Mexico

Bemistape
Minneapolis, Minnesota

Pressure Sensitive Materials
MACtac Americas

Stow, Ohio
Columbus, Indiana
Nellis, Nevada
Scranton, Pennsylvania
Hopkins, Minnesota
Los Angeles, California
Kansas City, Missouri
Lawrenceville, Georgia
Vancouver, Washington
Brampton, Ontario, Canada
San Luis Potosi, Mexico
São Paulo, Brazil 

MACtac Europe
Soignies, Belgium
Northampton, England
Paris, France
Köln, Germany
Milan, Italy
Barcelona, Spain
Malmo, Sweden
Frauenfeld, Switzerland
Warsaw, Poland
Shanghai, China

MACtac Asia Pacific
Singapore
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BOARD  OF

Pictured from left to right: Winslow H. Buxton, C. Angus Wurtele, Barbara L. Johnson, William J. Bolton,
John G. Bollinger, Edward N. Perry, Jeffrey H. Curler, William J. Scholle, Nancy Parsons McDonald, Loring W. Knoblauch,
John H. Roe, Roger D. O'Shaughnessy 45Bemis Annual Report 2002

Committee Members
EXECUTIVE AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
Jeffrey H. Curler, Chair
Winslow H. Buxton
Roger D. O’Shaughnessy
Edward N. Perry
John H. Roe
William J. Scholle
C. Angus Wurtele

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Loring W. Knoblauch, Chair
William J. Bolton
Barbara L. Johnson
Edward N. Perry

COMMUNITY RELATIONS COMMITTEE
Nancy Parsons McDonald, Chair
John G. Bollinger
William J. Scholle

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
Winslow H. Buxton, Chair
William J. Bolton
Roger D. O’Shaughnessy
C. Angus Wurtele

NOMINATING AND CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
C. Angus Wurtele, Chair
John G. Bollinger
William J. Bolton
Winslow H. Buxton
Barbara L. Johnson
Loring W. Knoblauch
Nancy Parsons McDonald
Roger D. O’Shaughnessy
Edward N. Perry
John H. Roe
William J. Scholle

Board of Directors (year elected)

John G. Bollinger (1999) – Professor Bollinger is the John
Bascom Professor of Industrial Engineering, Emeritus and
Emeritus Dean of the College of Engineering, University of
Wisconsin, Madison. He served as Dean of the College of
Engineering for 18 years and as a faculty member for 40 years.

William J. Bolton (2000) – Mr. Bolton is currently a 
consultant to the food distribution industry. From 1997 to
2000, he was Executive Vice President of SUPERVALU,
Inc. and President and Chief Operating Officer Corporate
Retail. SUPERVALU, Inc. is a food distribution and 
food retailing company.

Winslow H. Buxton (1993) – Mr. Buxton is a retired
Chairman of Pentair, Inc., a diversified manufacturing
company which sells general industrial equipment and 
specialty products. He was President and Chief Executive
Officer from 1992 to 2000 and had been Chairman 
since 1993.

Jeffrey H. Curler (1992) – Mr. Curler is President and
Chief Executive Officer of Bemis Company, Inc. He has
been President since 1996, and Chief Executive Officer
since 2000. He was Chief Operating Officer from 1998 
to 2000. Since joining Bemis Company in 1973, he has
held several positions in research, product development
and engineering.

Barbara L. Johnson (2002) – Ms. Johnson is Vice
President and Treasurer of Carleton College, Northfield,
Minnesota, a position she has held since 2000.

Loring W. Knoblauch (1993) – Mr. Knoblauch is
President and Chief Executive Officer of Underwriters
Laboratories Inc., a company engaged in the business of
Public Safety Testing.

Nancy Parsons McDonald (1982) – Ms. McDonald is a
director of Hillcrest Corporation, a company involved in
agriculture, real estate and timberlands.

Roger D. O’Shaughnessy (1997) – Mr. O'Shaughnessy 
is President and Chief Executive Officer of Cardinal Glass
Industries, Inc., a private manufacturer of glass, including
insulating glass units for window manufacturers.

Edward N. Perry (1992) – Mr. Perry has been engaged in
the private practice of law in the Boston, Massachusetts
area since 1982 and has been a partner at Perkins, Smith &
Cohen, LLP since 1990.

John H. Roe (1978) – Mr. Roe is Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of Bemis Company. He was Chief Executive
Officer of Bemis Company from 1990 to 2000.

William J. Scholle (2001) – Mr. Scholle is Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of Scholle Corporation, a private
company engaged in bag-in-box packaging, flexible 
shipping containers and marine salvage devices.

C. Angus Wurtele (1994) – Mr. Wurtele is a retired
Chairman of Valspar Corporation, a paint and coating
manufacturer, where he held the position of Chief
Executive Officer for 35 years.
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Pictured from left to right: Jeffrey H. Curler, Thomas L. Sall, James J. Seifert, Eugene H. Seashore, Jr., Gene C. Wulf, Melanie E.R. Miller,
Henry J. Thiesen, Scott W. Johnson, Stanley A. Jaffy

management
CORPORATE  OFF I CERS  AND  OPERAT IONS  

Corporate Officers

Jeffrey H. Curler
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Stanley A. Jaffy
Vice President and Controller

Scott W. Johnson
Senior Vice President and Secretary 
(retired February, 2003)

Melanie E.R. Miller
Vice President and Assistant Treasurer

Thomas L. Sall
Vice President, Operations

Eugene H. Seashore, Jr.
Vice President, Human Resources

James J. Seifert
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Henry J. Thiesen
Vice President, Operations 

Gene C. Wulf
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 
and Treasurer
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Operations Management

FLEXIBLE PACKAGING
Thomas L. Sall, President

HIGH BARRIER PRODUCTS
Henry J. Theisen, President

Curwood
Henry J. Theisen, President

Milprint
Don E. Nimis, President

Banner Packaging
James W. Ransom, President

Perfecseal
Paul R. Verbeten, President

Bemis Clysar
Gregory J. Derhaag, Vice President
and General Manager

MacKay
David F. Birkett, President

POLYETHYLENE PRODUCTS
Gary V. Stone, President

Polyethylene Packaging 
James A. Russler, President   

Bemis Custom Products
Jeffrey E. Lammers, President 

PAPER PRODUCTS
Gary V. Stone, President

Paper Packaging
George C. Woolley, Executive Vice President

Bemistape
William M. Zenner, Vice President 
and General Manager

BEMIS EUROPE–FLEXIBLE PACKAGING
Marc Dussart, President

PRESSURE SENSITIVE MATERIALS
William F. Austen, President and CEO

MACtac Americas
William F. Austen, President

MACtac Mexico
Jose Martin Alba, President

MACtac Europe
Marc Dussart, President
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Financial Information
Upon written request, the Company will, at no charge, provide a copy 
of its most recent Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. Additional financial information is available on the Bemis 
web site (www.bemis.com) or by contacting:

Melanie E.R. Miller
Vice President, Investor Relations and Assistant Treasurer
Bemis Company, Inc.
222 South Ninth Street
Suite 2300
Minneapolis, MN  55402-4099
612.376.3000
E-mail: mermiller@bemis.com

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Information on the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan is 
available by contacting:

Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota
Dividend Reinvestment Department
161 North Concord Exchange
South St. Paul, MN  55075
651.450.4064 or 1.800.468.9716

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota
Dividend Shareowner Services
161 North Concord Exchange
South St. Paul, MN  55075
651.450.4064 or 1.800.468.9716

Bemis Common Stock
Bemis stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol 
BMS, and is a component of the S&P 500 index.

Annual Meeting
May 1, 2003 at 9:00 a.m. in the Main Lounge of the Minneapolis Club,
729 2nd Avenue South, Minneapolis, Minnesota.

information
SHAREHOLDER
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